Public Document Pack

Cabinet
Title

Agenda

Date

Tuesday 20 July 2021
**This meeting will be held in person. At the time of the
despatch of this agenda, the current coronavirus restrictions
remain in place. However, there are indications from the
Government that these restrictions will be significantly
changed or removed on 19 July 2021. However, this will not
be confirmed until 12 July 2021, therefore, this meeting will
be held in line with the Government guidance issued at that
time**

Time

6.00 pm

Venue

Conference Chamber
West Suffolk House
Western Way, Bury St Edmunds

Membership

Leader
Deputy Leader
Councillor
Sarah Broughton
Carol Bull
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt
Susan Glossop
John Griffiths
Sara Mildmay-White
Joanna Rayner
David Roach
Peter Stevens

John Griffiths
Sara Mildmay-White
Portfolio
Resources and Performance
Governance
Regulatory
Families and Communities
Growth
Leader
Housing
Leisure, Culture and Community Hubs
Local Plan Development and Delivery
Operations

Interests –
declaration and
restriction on
participation

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's register
or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any item of
business on the agenda (subject to the exception for sensitive
information) and to leave the meeting prior to discussion and voting
on an item in which they have a disclosable pecuniary interest.

Quorum

Four Members

Committee
administrator

Sharon Turner, Democratic Services Officer
Telephone 01638 719237
Email sharon.turner@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Pages

Public information
Venue
Contact
information

Conference Chamber, West Suffolk House, Western Way,
Bury St Edmunds, IP33 3YU
Telephone: 01638 719237
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Website: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Access to
agenda and
reports before
the meeting

The agenda and reports will be available to view at least five
clear days before the meeting on our website.

Attendance at
meetings

This meeting is being held in person in order to comply with the
Local Government Act 1972. At the time of producing this
agenda, measures need to be applied to ensure the health and
safety for all persons present is maintained, but we expect
these measures may change before the meeting itself. We may
also be required to restrict the number of members of the
public able to attend in accordance with the room capacity. If
you consider it is necessary for you to attend, please let
Democratic Services know in advance of the meeting so they
can endeavour to accommodate you and advise you of the
necessary health and safety precautions that apply to the
meeting.

Public
participation

Members of the public who live or work in the district are
invited to put one question or statement of not more than three
minutes duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of
the agenda only. If a question is asked and answered within
three minutes, the person who asked the question may ask a
supplementary question that arises from the reply.
The Constitution allows that a person who wishes to speak must
register at least 15 minutes before the time the meeting is
scheduled to start. However, due to the need to comply with
current coronavirus regulations and guidance, necessary health
and safety precautions taken will apply to members of the
public registered to speak. We would therefore strongly
urge anyone who wishes to register to speak to notify
Democratic Services by 9am on the day of the meeting so
that advice can be given on the arrangements in place.
There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking,
which may be extended at the Chair’s discretion.

Accessibility

If you have any difficulties in accessing the meeting, the
agenda and accompanying reports, including for reasons of a
disability or a protected characteristic, please contact
Democratic Services at the earliest opportunity using the

Pages
Recording of
meetings

contact details provided above in order that we may assist you.
The Council may record this meeting and permits members of
the public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the
media and public are not lawfully excluded).
Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to
being filmed should advise the Committee Administrator who
will instruct that they are not included in the filming.

Personal
information

Any personal information processed by West Suffolk Council
arising from a request to speak at a public meeting under the
Localism Act 2011, will be protected in accordance with the
Data Protection Act 2018. For more information on how we do
this and your rights in regards to your personal information and
how to access it, visit our website:
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/
howweuseinformation.cfm or call Customer Services: 01284
763233 and ask to speak to the Information Governance
Officer.

Pages

Agenda
Procedural matters
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of interest
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
pecuniary or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda, no later than when that item
is reached and, when appropriate, to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on the item.

Part 1 - public
3.

Open forum
At each Cabinet meeting, up to 15 minutes shall be allocated for
questions or statements from and discussion with, non-Cabinet
members. Members wishing to speak during this session are
encouraged to give notice in advance. Who speaks and for how
long will be at the complete discretion of the person presiding.

4.

Public participation
Members of the public who live or work in the district are invited
to put one question or statement of not more than three minutes
duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of the agenda
only. If a question is asked and answered within three minutes,
the person who asked the question may ask a supplementary
question that arises from the reply.
Members of the public who live or work in the district are invited
to put one question or statement of not more than three minutes
duration relating to items to be discussed in Part 1 of the agenda
only. If a question is asked and answered within three minutes,
the person who asked the question may ask a supplementary
question that arises from the reply.
A person who wishes to speak must register at least 15 minutes
before the time the meeting is scheduled to start. This can be
done online by sending the request to
democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or telephoning 01638
719237 or in person by telling the Committee Administrator
present at the meeting. However, due to the need to comply
with coronavirus regulations and guidance, necessary health and
safety precautions taken will apply to members of public
registered to speak and, therefore, would urge anyone who
wishes to register to speak to notify Democratic Services

Pages
by 9am on the day of the meeting so that advice can be
given on the arrangements in place.
There is an overall time limit of 15 minutes for public speaking,
which may be extended at the Chair’s discretion.
5.

Report of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership
Joint Committee: 22 June 2021

1 - 12

Report number:
CAB/WS/21/029
Portfolio holder: Councillor Sarah Broughton
Lead officer: Rachael Mann
6.

Report of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
8 July 2021

13 - 18

Report number:
CAB/WS/21/030
Chair of the Committee: Councillor Ian Shipp
Lead officer: Christine Brain

Non key decisions
7.

Draft West Suffolk Annual Report 2020-21

19 - 32

Report number:
CAB/WS/21/031
Portfolio holder: Councillor John Griffiths
Lead officer: Ian Gallin
8.

Environment and Climate Change Action Plans: 2021
Update

33 - 72

Report number:
CAB/WS/21/032
Portfolio holder: Councillor John Griffiths
Lead officer: Jill Korwin
9.

Decisions Plan: 1 July 2021 to 31 May 2022
To consider the most recently published version of the Cabinet’s
Decisions Plan
Report number:
CAB/WS/21/033
Portfolio holder: Councillor John Griffiths
Lead officer: Ian Gallin

Part 2 – exempt
None

73 - 92

Pages

Agenda Item 5

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029

Report of the Anglia
Revenues and Benefits
Partnership Joint Committee:
22 June 2021
Report number:

CAB/WS/21/029

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor Sarah Broughton
Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance
Telephone: 07929 305787
Email: sarah.broughton@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Rachael Mann
Director (Resources and Property)
Telephone: 01638 719245
Email: rachael.mann@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

This item is not required to be included on the
Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All wards

Recommendation:

The Cabinet is requested to note the content of
Report number: CAB/WS/21/029, being the report
of the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership
Joint Committee.

20 July 2021

Page 1

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029

1.

Context to this report

1.1

On 22 June 2021, the Anglia Revenues and Benefits Partnership (ARP) Joint
Committee met virtually where the following items of substantive business
were discussed:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Anglia Revenues Partnership Service Delivery Plan and Risk Register
Performance Reports
Welfare Reform Update
Quarter 4 ARP Financial Performance 2020 to 2021
Forthcoming Issues.

This report is for information only. No decisions are required by the Cabinet.
2.

Updates within this report

2.1

Anglia Revenues Partnership Service Delivery Plan and Risk Register
(agenda item 7)

2.1.1

The Joint Committee considered a report, which provided an update on the
Service Delivery Plan and Risk Register, as set out in the appendices
attached to that report at:
Service Delivery Plan and Risk Register
Appendix A Service Delivery Plan
Risk Register

2.1.2

The Joint Committee noted that ARP had seen significant success in 2020 to
2021, including (briefly):







Housing Benefit new claims and changes are meeting targets in 2021
to 2022 even though Covid-19 has affected levels of work and
enquiries.
The suite of forms and other functionality is available to all customer
teams using Capita customer contact software to sign customers up
to e-services and the number of those using e-services continues to
rise.
The further recovery work jointly funded by Norfolk and Suffolk
County Councils secured recovery of £680,000. Even though Covid-19
led to the suspension of courts which has reduced the recovery in
2020 to 2021, the achievement is commendable considering the
circumstances. Recovery in 2021 to 2022 is expected to reach the
levels seen in previous years.
The Fraud team’s work, also jointly funded by the County Councils,
identified over £2.3 million in fraud and error last year even with the
restrictions caused by Covid. The team are on target to achieve
similar values in 2021 to 2022.

Page 2

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029
2.1.3

Other achievements relating to the Transformation Programme are detailed
in the report presented to the Joint Committee, which related to:









2.1.4

The progression of the Digital Transformation work stream
The project to automate Universal Credit records is progressing well
The use of ARP’s enforcement services to collect parking debts
following East Suffolk’s and West Suffolk’s move to Civil Parking
Enforcement
The successful handling of administering the Covid-19 business
support grants and self-isolation payments
Succession planning following as a result of two key members of the
Senior Management Team recently retiring
The progression of the Customer Journey Programme
A review of the Council Tax Support Schemes for each partner council
which should help to streamline the process for potential claimants
The overall ARP budget for 2021 to 2022 is lower than in 2020 to
2021 due to savings in salaries and increased income from the
enforcement team

The Joint Committee reconsidered the strategic direction for the ARP (as
previously reported to Cabinet in January 2020) and the Service Delivery
Plan seeks to detail actions to achieve the visioning detailed in the report. In
2021 to 2022, emphasis will be placed on:





The development of digital online solutions. Self service offers
customers accessible services inside and outside opening hours.
Investing time and resource into developing automated processes
which have already delivered savings of over £120,000. In addition,
a further £220,000 efficiency target is included in the budget from
2022 to 2023 onwards.
Continuing to influence national initiatives such as Universal Credit.

2.1.5

The Joint Committee also considered the Partnership’s Risk Register, which
showed that all elements within the register have reached their target
scores. The appeals from hospitals for business rate relief has been
withdrawn, and the impact of Covid-19 is being sufficiently managed and all
staff are able to work remotely. The Register also continues to highlight the
need to monitor the impact of Universal Credit on customers and grant
income.

2.1.6

Discussion was held at the meeting on the impact of the pandemic on
services but the intensity of the impact was continuing to lessen.
Recognition was also given to the withdrawal of the potential appeals from
hospitals for business rate relief from the risk register, which, if such
appeals have progressed, could have had significant financial implications
for the partnership.

Page 3

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029
2.2

Performance Report: January 2021 (agenda item 8)

2.2.1

a.

Joint Committee performance report: March 2021

The Joint Committee received and noted an update on performance.
This report provides relevant information relating to the performance of ARP
as a whole and that of the individual partners. This detailed report can be
viewed on Breckland Council’s website at the following link:
Performance Report 2020 -21 Qtr 4 March_.pdf (breckland.gov.uk)
Performance Report 2021-22 Qtr 1 April.pdf (breckland.gov.uk)
The reports indicated that when considering performance as a whole for all
partner councils, all targets for the 2020 to 2021 financial year and in
Quarter 1 of 2021 to 2022 in respect of the following categories:
•
•
•
•
2.2.2

In respect of West Suffolk Council’s individual performance, all targets had
been met for the 2020 to 2021 financial year in respect of the following
categories:
•
•
•
•

2.2.3

Business rates collection
Council tax collection
Number of electronic forms received
Fraud and compliance

Business rates collection
Local council tax reduction
Housing benefit
Fraud and compliance

Attention was drawn to the service updates:
a.

Enforcement: All enforcement visits were suspended by the Ministry
of Justice in March 2020 and re-commenced on 24 August 2020;
however, while ARP’s enforcement agency had resumed visits and
amounts collected by the team have risen back to normal levels by
the end of the financial year, the amounts collected remained below
the levels achieved in 2019 with £3.9 million collected by 31 March
2021 compared to £6.3 million in 2019 to 2020. ARP continue to try
and engage with customers offering long term payment arrangements
and assisting customers where possible. The team had also taken on
the collection of parking fines for East Suffolk and West Suffolk.

b.

Further recovery: With effect from March 2020 all recovery actions
were temporarily suspended due to Covid-19 until summer 2020.
While actions had recommenced, this action had resulted in income
amounting to £680,000 in total for 2020 to 2021 year compared to
£1.37 million for 2019 to 2020. ARP has £2.060 million debt secured
through Charging Orders.

Page 4

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029

c.

Non-domestic rates: The team has had an increased workload over
the first two months of this financial year due to the additional rate
reliefs being awarded and the payment of grants to businesses as
part of the mitigating the impacts of Covid-19. This has seen
extremely high levels of telephone calls and correspondence;
however, the team has worked hard to bring the outstanding work
down to normal levels. The continuation of administering business
grants and the preparation for the new financial year has been a
challenge; however, the additional work is being handled efficiently
and effectively.
As a result of the Chancellor of the Exchequer’s budget
announcements on 3 March 2021, and in particular support provided
to businesses during the 2021 to 2022 financial year, the retail,
hospitality and leisure relief would be extended into the 2021 to 2022
financial year but from 1 July 2021 would be reduced to 66 percent.
Rate relief for children's nurseries was similarly extended. Revised
bills will be issued in June 2021 to reflect the changes.
Several businesses have raised appeals with the Valuation Office
against their rateable values on the basis that Covid has affected the
value. The Government has passed legislation which has meant these
reductions cannot be considered and has announced that they will
fund further discretionary rate relief to those businesses affected.
Further guidance is awaited on this matter
The revaluation planned to take place on 1 April 2021 has been
postponed until 1 April 2023 with an antecedent date of 1 April 2021
(this is the date that the valuations are based on).

d.

Council tax: As expected Covid-19 has had an impact on collection
despite the application of hardship fund payments to eligible
accounts. ARP has updated its website and phone message to provide
help and support to those struggling to pay through this difficult time
and are signposting customers to claim Universal Credit and Council
Tax Support.
The option of a two month payment break has been offered to
provide more flexibility during Covid-19. An online form has been
produced to allow customers to request a two month payment break,
a change from 10 to 12 instalments or a change of payment date.
ARP has sent two rounds of 'soft reminders' which have had a positive
effect on collection. The magistrates’ courts have now re-opened and
hearing dates have been booked for the new year.
Demand for council tax billing continues to be significantly greater
than last year, largely because of the direct impacts of the pandemic.

Page 5

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029
The project to introduce Generic Council Tax Billing Officers which
provide a resilient team who have been able to switch between billing
and benefits to help cope with ever changing workloads and priorities
during the pandemic has provided increased flexibility in the use of
ARP’s resources and has supported the reduction in outstanding work.
A new statutory provision called ‘Breathing Space’ is being introduced
on 4 May 2021. This gives debtors a 60 day moratorium from
recovery action for their debts. Preparations are being made to ARP’s
processes and systems to ensure compliance with the new legislation.
e.

Benefits: Both Council Tax Support and Benefits performance has
achieved targets, despite the increased demand attributed to Covid19.
ARP continues to see significant increases in claims and ARP has seen
significant increases in claims, and throughput overall for benefits has
been approximately a third up on the 2019 to 2020 financial year.
In April 2020, ARP changed the Local Council Tax Support schemes
for all partners to include a 'tolerance rule' which is applied to
monthly changes in Universal Credit which are notified to ARP via
Universal Credit Data Share (UCDS) from DWP. The new rule allows
ARP to ignore changes in Universal Credit of under £15 per week,
which has helped reduced the number of council tax adjustment
notices being issued, and refund requests being received. It also
allows customers to manage their payments more easily. As at 31
March 2021, the introduction of the tolerance rule has reduced the
number of council tax support re-assessments resulting from DWP
UCDS records by 32 percent, which is in line with the modelling
undertaken during the consultation.
The Council Tax Support Hardship Fund awards were issued to every
qualifying working age customer by the end of July 2020, either by a
credit of up to £150 on to their council tax account or by arranging a
refund where one is due. ARP is monitoring expenditure given the rise
in caseload due to Covid-19 to ensure the fund for each partner
council is not overspent.
Since the end of September 2020, ARP has worked with the
Department for Health and Social Care (DHSC) to implement the
Covid-19 Test and Trace Self-Isolation payment scheme. This scheme
pays £500 to each eligible person notified of a requirement to selfisolate. Whilst funded by DHSC, ARP are seeing demand outweigh the
forecasted volumes, especially with the substantial increase in
infections over the winter, linked to the third national lockdown. The
scheme has now been extended to end on 30 June 2021 and now
includes provision for parents of school age children required to self
isolate being able to apply for a payment.

Page 6

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029
f.

Fraud and compliance: The fraud team, having had a successful
prosecution regarding tenancy fraud, continue to work with social
housing providers in an attempt to expand the commercial aspect of
their investigation service.
A full risk assessment has now been agreed across the partnership
and visits have successfully resumed, with social distancing
restrictions in place and supplies of appropriate Personal Protective
Equipment provided to all visiting officers. Desk based fraud and
compliance work continues, which is undertaken by fraud team
officers working from home.
Both Norfolk and Suffolk County Councils have committed to continue
providing funding for fraud and compliance work until March 2022, at
which point a further review will take place.
During the pandemic it has not been possible to interview customers
under caution on a face to face basis. Advice has been taken from the
Law Society and the Crown Prosecution Service in relation to
alternative methods of interviewing under caution. With assistance
from the solicitor used for ARP Fraud prosecutions it has been agreed
that customers will be interviewed by letter and a process and
procedure has been set up to enable this. A number of sanctions have
now been conducted using this process.

g.

ARP systems and digital: The annual billing process for 2021 to
2022 has recently been completed. The team has worked
exceptionally hard to adapt to the changes required at short notice as
a result of the impacts of Covid-19. Interpreting the changes whilst
ensuring bills were issued in a timely manner was paramount. This
included the exceptional commitment of the teams to make NonDomestic Rate amendments at very short notice following
announcements made in the Chancellor’s budget. Late amendments
to the CTS hardship payments for 2021 to 2022 where excess
allowance was available, and credit should be given to the
combined effort across the partnership to achieve this.
Reviews will continue with Capita on portal and form developments
and implementing ‘change of address’ automation.

h.

Better Customer Journeys Programme: Through the Better
Customer Journeys Programme, ARP is identifying how to build on the
major increases in ARP website visits and self-service usage. ARP
partners' customer service heads are progressing plans to map out
how best ARP can support customer service teams' new, emerging
operating models. A gap analysis, and a set of plans for closing that
gap has been completed. This showed there was a gap between the
information ARP hold about service delivery, and how consolidated
and easily accessible that information is to the wider team. The
Customer Strategy Team (CST) is helping to make the partnership's
performance framework even more focused on customer delivery;

Page 7

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029
from these metrics CST will be able to prioritise change projects it
wants to sponsor within the revenues and benefits partnership. CST
also proposed a new remit (approved by the Operational
Improvement Board in October 2020) which mandated that it is now
the central point of reference for any proposal or project that affects
or seeks to change the way customers interact with the shared
revenues and benefits service.
2.2.4

Discussion was specifically held at the meeting on a number of topics
including the target number of days for responding to customer complaints;
and the process involved following the customers’ submission of their online
forms.

2.3

Welfare reform update (agenda item 9)

2.3.1

The Joint Committee noted an update on welfare reform, which included:
2.

Universal Credit (UC): From 1 April 2019, the Department for
Work and Pensions (DWP) was awarded a 12 month (extended to
the 2021 to 2022 year) funding contract to Citizens’ Advice to
provide help to new Universal Credit customers to make a claim
(Assisted Digital Support) and to help customers with budget
monthly payments (Personal Budgeting Support). Having met
with various Citizens’ Advice branches across Cambridgeshire,
Norfolk and Suffolk, ARP has established that the following
arrangements are being implemented:




Local advisors will dial into a national call centre.
Web chat is being provided.
Face to face arrangements will be in place – some on an
appointment basis, others on a drop in basis or a mixture of the
two. Rural provision may be patchy.

ARP has raised concerns that Citizens’ Advice are only funded to help to the
first UC payment received; however, Citizens’ Advice have said they will
continue to help vulnerable customers, drawing on their usual funding
streams. Through regular liaison meetings ARP will monitor this.
DWP are yet to publish a review of the Citizens’ Advice Help to Claim service
but have confirmed the Citizens’ Advice arrangement will continue into the
2021 to 2022 year, with a review underway for provision from 2022.
The summary of the latest position on the expansion of UC and concerns
raised by officers regarding specific issues in respect of the expansion on a
national level were contained in sections 2.1.9 and 2.2 of the report, and
which were duly noted by the Joint Committee. Members were updated at
the meeting that the small scale managed migration trial at Harrogate Job
Centre, to test various aspects of the service, details of which were provided
in section 2.2.1, had recommenced following its temporary suspension due
to Covid-19. Parliament is required to consider the outcome of the trial.

Page 8

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029

2.3.2

b.

Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP): For the 2020 to 2021
financial year, the DWP increased funding to offset the impact of
private sector rents increasing above the Local Housing Allowance
(LHA) rates used to calculate housing benefit. Funding for 2021/2022
has returned to 2019/2020 levels, despite concerns the pandemic will
increase demand throughout this year. ARP are in close conversations
with individual Housing teams to plan, profile and monitor demand
and expenditure to meet requirements to ensure full spend, but not
to exceed funding levels, given a budget does not exist to top up.

c.

Benefit cap: In November 2016, the maximum family income before
the benefit cap applies reduced from £26,000 to £20,000 (£13,400
for single adults with no children). The Benefit Service continues to
work with colleagues in Customer Service and Housing Options teams
to seek to avoid homelessness and the cost of temporary housing.

d.

Social rented sector rent restrictions: The Government has
responded to consultation on funding for supported housing,
removing proposals to move away from a subsidised demand led
model to a grant model. For the foreseeable future, supported
accommodation, including hostel tenancies will remain in within the
Housing Benefit service and will not therefore move to Universal
Credit.

e.

Welfare benefit uprating – April 2021: The Government has
confirmed an end to the four year benefit uprating freeze in 2020.
From April 2021, all benefits increased by the September 2020
Consumer Price Inflation (CPI) measure, which equates to 0.5 per
cent for the state pension rising by 2.5 per cent due to the ‘Triple
Lock’ (lower of CPI, average earnings or 2.5 percent).

Further details are contained in the report at:
Welfare Reform Report

2.3.3

Discussion was held at the meeting on the awarding of the DWP funding
contract to Citizens’ Advice being extended into 2021 to 2022, and the
implications of this.

2.4

Quarter 4 ARP Financial Performance 2020 to 2021 (agenda item
10)

2.4.1

The Joint Committee noted the financial performance report which
presented the financial outturn position against the ARP 2020 to 2021
budget.
The actual outturn showed an overspend against budget of £551,373 (5.62
per cent) for the whole of ARP. Appendix 1 attached to that report provided
further details, together with details and reasons for the specific variances,

Page 9

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029
which were largely due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Less income than
forecast had been generated by the enforcement agency and had a
significant effect on the budget; however, this had been off-set by savings
in other areas.
Each partner council has directly received new burdens funding from the
Government to cover the costs of administering the Covid-19 grant
schemes. These grants have been retained by each authority and will help
to offset the overspend within ARP and cover additional resource costs for
administering the schemes internally. In addition, the Government is
providing grants to individual local authorities to offset the losses from sales
fees and charges income. Authorities are expected to absorb the initial five
per cent of lost income against budget and after that the grant will provide
75 pence in every pound of lost income. The lost enforcement income will
be claimed under this scheme for each partner.
Other budget risks were also highlighted to members.
2.4.2

An update was also provided on the remaining transformation funding which
had been set aside in previous years. £97,000 has been earmarked for
projects in progress in 2021 to 2022 and there is a further £133,000
available for future transformation projects.

2.4.3

Details of the funding held in the ARP ICT reserve, which had been approved
as part of the budget setting process, was also contained in Appendix 1.
The reserve was fully utilised in 2020 to 2021 due to additional IT
requirements for homeworking although the balance was not sufficient to
cover all costs and additional spend is included in the supplies and services
total.

2.4.4

The table below shows the share of the ARP overspend for each partner
alongside the Covid-19 income compensation to be retained by each
authority:
ARP overspend
(£,000)

Enforcement income
claim (£,000)

Breckland

77

(88)

East Cambs

28

(41)

East Suffolk

245

(214)

Fenland

100

(86)

West Suffolk

101

(113)

Total

551

(542)

The variation in cost share reflects that the main overspend is from lost
enforcement income and the percentage shares for this area are based on
the enforcement caseloads as per the ARP agreement.

Page 10

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/029
2.4.5

The reasons for other specific variances, together with other details, are
contained in the report at:
ARP Financial Outturn Report 2020-2021
Appendix 1:
Appendix 1 for Q4 ARP Financial performance 2020-21.pdf
(breckland.gov.uk)

2.4.6

The Joint Committee acknowledged that the overspend in the overall budget
was due to the lack of enforcement income and discussion was held on the
impact on the budget in 2021 to 2022. Quarterly updates would be provided
to members at future meetings throughout the year.

2.4.7

The Joint Committee resolved: That
1. 1.
2.

the report and appendix be noted; and
the final full year variance as at 31 March 2021 be shared
between the partner authorities in the approved shares.

2.5

Forthcoming issues (agenda item 11)

2.5.1

Members were informed that ARP had successfully appointed to the post
held by a senior officer who retired earlier in the year. The new post holder
would commence employment early in September 2021.

3.

Minutes

3.1

For further information on the discussions held at the Anglia Revenues and
Benefits Partnership Joint Committee meeting on 22 June 2021, the draft
minutes of the meeting may be viewed on Breckland District Council’s
website at the following link:
Printed minutes 22nd-Jun-2021 11.00 Anglia Revenues and Benefits
Partnership Joint Committee.pdf (breckland.gov.uk)

4.

Background papers

4.1

Breckland DC Website:
22 June 2021

Page 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/030

Report of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee:
8 July 2021
Report number:

CAB/WS/21/030

Report to and date:

Cabinet

20 July 2021

Chair of the Overview Councillor Ian Shipp
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
and Scrutiny
Telephone: 07368 134769
Committee:
Email: ian.shipp@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Lead officer:

Christine Brain
Democratic Services Officer (Scrutiny)
Telephone: 01638 719729
Email: christine.brain@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

This item is not required to be included on the
Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All wards

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Report number:
CAB/WS/21/030, being the report of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee, be noted.

Page 13

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/030

1.
1.1

Context to this report
On 8 July 2021, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee held its nondecision-making virtual MS TeamsLive meeting, at which it considered
the following items:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Draft West Suffolk Annual Report (2020-2021)
Appointments to Outside Scrutiny Bodies (2021-2022)
Cabinet Decisions Plan: 1 July 2021 to 31 May 2022
Work programmes update

2.

Proposals within this report

2.1

Draft West Suffolk Annual Report (2020-2021) (Report number:
OAS/WS/21/012)

2.1.1

The Leader of the Council attended the meeting of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and presented the Draft West Suffolk Annual Report
(2020-2021), which highlighted the key activities and developments
which had been achieved over the financial year 2020-2021, with regards
to the priorities set out in the West Suffolk Strategic Framework 20202024.

2.1.2

The annual report focussed on the council’s achievements over the past
year, including the council’s activities to support local communities and
businesses as it responds to and recovers from Covid-19.

2.1.3

The final annual report would include infographics to provide a strong and
easily digestible summary of the council’s work over the previous year
and was designed to be used in a number of ways, including for briefing
materials and social media.

2.1.4

Members examined the document in detail and asked a number of
questions of the Leader, to which comprehensive responses were
provided. In particular discussions were held on the Love Newmarket
Business Improvement District and what support was provide; the park
home insulation scheme; the swift distribution of the business grant
schemes during Covid-19; work being carried out with health partners
across West Suffolk; and the development of a communications plan to
explain the role of the annual report.

2.1.5

Comments and suggestions made by the Committee on the draft Annual
Report, for example including:
-

contact details under each section of the report;

-

growth in West Suffolk’s economy - first bullet point, include:
‘£70m’ instead of ‘£70,000,000’

Page 14

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/030
-

highlighting more of the work of West Suffolk Council on the
distribution of business grants.

-

provision of appropriate housing – listing how many types of
houses had been built for lifetime homes;

-

wording about the Council working in other towns with health
partners and other partner organisations such as with One
Haverhill to develop a Haverhill Hub;

to which officers agreed to look at incorporating into the final document,
to be presented to Cabinet.
2.2

Appointments to Outside Scrutiny Bodies (Report number:
OAS/WS/21/013)

2.2.1

The Health Scrutiny Committee is responsible for scrutinising wellbeing
and health services across the county. The committee has 10 members
in total, five county councillors and one co-opted representative from
each of the District and Borough Councils in Suffolk. These councillors
are from across political groups and are not members of their Council’s
Cabinet Committee.

2.2.2

An extract from the Suffolk County Council’s constitution, setting out the
role of the Health Scrutiny Committee was attached at Appendix 1 to the
report.

2.2.3

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee was therefore asked to nominate,
on an annual basis, one full member and one substitute member to serve
on the Suffolk County Council’s Health Scrutiny Committee for 20212022.

2.2.4

At the conclusion of its discussions, the Committee requests that Council
be asked to confirm at its next meeting the appointments of Councillor
Margaret Marks as the full representative and Councillor Mike Chester as
the interim substitute representative to the Suffolk County Council Health
Scrutiny Committee for 2021-2022.

2.3

Cabinet Decisions Plan: 1 June 2021 to 31 May 2022 (Report
number: OAS/WS/21/014)

2.3.1

The Committee reviewed and noted the latest version of the Cabinet
Decisions Plan, covering the period 1 July 2021 to 31 May 2022, and
asked questions on “Delivering a Sustainable Budget 2022 to 2023” and
the “Environment Action Plan” reports, to which responses were provided.

2.3.2

In particular questions were raised on the following:

Page 15

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/030
- The “West Suffolk Rural Task Force Action Plan Update” report being
considered by Cabinet on 21 September 2021. The Committee
asked how the recommendations of the Rural Task Force were have
been incorporated into the Local Plan, to which officers agreed to
provide a written response.
- The “Applications for Community Chest 2022-2023” report being
considered by Cabinet on 8 February 2022. The Committee asked
how the awarding of the community chest process worked. Officers
explained the community chest work was led by the Grant Working
Group and agreed to provide a written response on the process.
2.4

Work programme update 2021 (Report number:
OAS/WS/21/015)

2.4.1

The Committee received Report number OAS/WS/21/015, which updated
Members on the current status of its rolling work programme of items,
and items currently agreed but had yet to be programmed for 2021 as
attached at Appendix 1. It also set out information seeking at least one
new member from the Committee to replace Councillor Ingwall-King on
the Modern-Day Slavery Working Group.

2.4.2

The Committee considered the request to seek at least one new member
from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to replace Councillor IngwallKing on the Modern-Day Slavery Working Group who resigned as a West
Suffolk Councillor in March 2021. At the time of the meeting, no members
came forward to sit on the Working Group.

2.4.3

Councillor Diane Hind informed members she had produced a small report
on “anti-idling” on the work carried out by the Residents Working Group
which had been emailed to the Committee for information. As a follow-up
to this, Councillor Diane Hind agreed to complete a work programme
suggestion form for the Committees consideration at its September 2021
meeting, focusing on anti-idling, 20 mile and hour speed limit and
improving air quality around our towns. This piece of work was originally
raised by Councillor Lisa Ingwall-King back in January 2020.

2.4.4

A member of the Committee raised a question regarding the street
trading and vending policy, which had previously been scrutinised by the
St Edmundsbury Borough Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee
over a course of several months and questioned whether this was now
due for review. Officers explained that the Licensing Committee would be
looking at the policy in the near future as reported to all members in
March 2021 and agreed to provide a written response on the proposed
time frame for carrying out this piece of work.

2.4.5

At the conclusion of discussions, the Committee:

Page 16

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/030
1.

noted the current status of topics currently scheduled in its rolling
work programme for 2021, attached at Appendix 1;

2.

noted that following the meeting, the Chair would lobby to seek a
volunteer to replace Councillor Lisa Ingwall-King on the Modern-Day
Slavery Working Group.

3.

noted Councillor Diane Hind agreed to complete a work
programme suggestion form setting out the scope for an update on
Anti-Idling.

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

Please see background papers.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

Please see background papers.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

Please see background papers.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Financial:
Please see background papers.

6.2

Equalities:
Please see background papers.

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Please see background papers.

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

Report number: OAS/WS/21/012 and Appendix 1 to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee: Draft West Suffolk Annual Report (2020-2021)

Page 17

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/030
8.2

Report number: OAS/WS/21/013 and Appendix 1 to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee: Appointments to Outside Scrutiny Bodies (20212022)

8.3

Report number: OAS/WS/21/014 and Appendix 1 to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee: Cabinet Decisions Plan: 1 July 2021 to 31 May
2022

8.4

Report number: OAS/WS/21/015 and Appendix 1 to the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee: Work Programme Update 2021

Page 18

Agenda Item 7

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/031

Draft West Suffolk
Annual Report 2020-21
Report number:

CAB/WS/21/031

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor John Griffiths
Leader of the Council
Tel: 01284 757136
Email: john.griffiths@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Ian Gallin
Chief Executive
Tel: 01284 75001
Email: ian.gallin@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

The decision made as a result of this report will
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be
actioned until five clear working dates of the
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is
included on the Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the draft West Suffolk
Annual Report 2020-21 be approved.

20 July 2021

Page 19

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/031

1.

Context to this report

1.1

The draft West Suffolk Annual Report highlights the key activities and
developments that have been achieved over the financial year 2020-21,
with regard to the priorities set out in the West Suffolk Strategic
Framework 2020-2024.

1.2

The annual report focusses on our achievements over the financial year
2020-21, including the Council’s activities to support local communities
and businesses as we respond to and recover from COVID-19.

1.3

The Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered the Annual Report on 8
July 2021 Report number OAS/WS/21/012 and Appendix 1 to Report
number OAS/WS/21/012.

1.4

The following amendments were recommended by the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee:











1.5

The inclusion of contact details which will include the lead Portfolio
Holder.
Page 2: add that we have worked with a wide range of partner
organisations.
Page 2: add the following, ‘During 2020 to 2021 Suffolk’s Public Sector,
including West Suffolk Council, worked together to agree a strategic
approach for how Suffolk will recover from the coronavirus pandemic.
Suffolk Public Sector Leaders’ priorities are physical and mental health,
town centres, housing and homelessness, young people and climate
and environment. The proposals will work alongside individual
organisations plans to support recovery among Suffolk residents and
businesses.’
Page 3, first bullet point, include: ‘£70 million’ instead of
‘£70,000,000’.
Page 3, first bullet point, add the following: ‘A proactive and rapid
response to supporting businesses was taken including administering
grants through automatic payments.’
Page 4, add: ‘Over this year the ONE Haverhill Partnership has been
progressing plans to develop a Haverhill Hub which will incorporate
health and other partners to provide services to the community.’
Page 7, second bullet point include the number of lifetime homes that
have been delivered (this figure will include bungalows).
Page 9, state that the Environmental Statement attached as Appendix
1 is a summary of the full Environmental Statement.
Page 9, Environmental Statement summary, add: ‘Council officers and
members of Cabinet have been part of a Suffolk wide approach to
tackle climate change and have also supported local businesses,
voluntary groups and organisations in their climate change efforts.’

We are continuing the approach taken to the 2019-20 Annual Report, by
producing a shorter document using infographics, as opposed to the full
written report. Feedback has suggested that these infographics give a

Page 20

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/031
strong and easily-digestible summary of the Council’s work over the
previous 12 months and can be used in a number of ways, including, for
briefing materials and social media.
1.6

As part of our strategic communications approach, this Annual Report has
been graphically designed to help bring some examples to life. As may be
expected in looking back at what we have done, many of the examples
have been communicated or used in the media. We will continue to report
on our work in this way.

1.7

The information will also be presented on our webpages and social media.
It allows us to tell a range of audiences in a number of ways what we have
been and are doing. Opportunities to publicise this good work in public
areas such as libraries and health centres will also be used. We will
continue to publish these, and other examples, not highlighted in the
infographics, throughout the year, as well as updating them as the Council
makes new achievements. This will be done in the media as well as
posting where appropriate in community social media groups. In this way,
the report and its messages will be seen by far more people than we
either send the annual report to or come to our website.

1.8

This Annual Report forms part of a wider suite of documents that report on
the performance of the council, including the Annual Statement of
Accounts and balanced scorecards. It will be published alongside the
Annual Environment Statement, highlights from which were included as an
Appendix to the annual report in 2019-20 following a recommendation
from the Environment and Climate Change Taskforce.

2.

Proposals within this report

2.1

It is good practice for local authorities to produce an Annual Report
alongside the Statement of Accounts. It is a way of keeping our residents
informed about our activities and how they contribute to our wider
strategic priorities for the West Suffolk area. It is therefore proposed that
West Suffolk Council should publish an Annual Report covering 2020-21.

2.2

The draft report contains examples drawn from a range of service areas,
in order to demonstrate the range of activities undertaken by the Council.

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

The alternative option is to not produce an Annual Report. However, it is
good practice for councils to report on progress against their priorities in
this way and ensures transparency on how they spend public money. The
report also reflects the excellent work which has been delivered across
West Suffolk during a challenging period.

Page 21

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/031

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

The draft Annual Report summarises progress in achieving the priorities
set out in the 2020-2024 Strategic Framework which was informed by
feedback from residents, business and stakeholders.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

Misunderstanding of the role of the report (for example it can only give
highlights of West Suffolk Council’s activities, not every action taken). This
will be mitigated by developing a communications plan to clearly explain
the role of the report.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

None apply because this is a report reflecting on the achievements of the
council.

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Appendix 1 – West Suffolk Draft Annual Report 2020-21

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

Environmental Statement 2020-21
(this Statement is available to view on this agenda under Appendix B to
Report number CAB/WS/21/032 – Environment and Climate Change Action
Plans: 2021 Update)

8.2

West Suffolk Strategic Framework 2020-2024

8.3

West Suffolk Annual Report 2019-2020

Page 22

Appendix 1

West Suffolk Annual Report
2020-2021

Page 23

Introduction
The West Suffolk Council Annual Report 2020 to 2021 covers the period from 1 April
2020 to 31 March 2021. The report highlights the progress and achievements of West
Suffolk Council over the past year in achieving our vision and priorities. Much of this
work has been severely affected by COVID-19 and so the report sets out how we
have continued to support local businesses and communities to respond to and
recover from the impacts of the pandemic.
This report presents our key accomplishments in a series of infographics that are
categorised under the three priorities that we set out in our Strategic Framework
2020 to 2024.
These priorities are focused on growing West Suffolk’s economy, fostering resilience
in families and communities that are healthy and active and ensuring there is
increased and improved provision of appropriate housing in both towns and rural
areas. Attached as Appendix 1 are highlights from our Environmental Statement
2020 to 2021.
More than ever before, we have worked with partners and agencies across Suffolk
to support local residents and businesses to achieve our priorities.

Page 24

2

Growth in West Suffolk’s economy for the
benefit of all our residents and UK plc

Last year, £70,000,000 was distributed to 2,397 local
businesses across all the COVID-19 business grant schemes.
COVID-19

COVID-19

Supported and responded to 800 enquiries, provided
businesses with advice on how to switch to takeaway and
delivery services, carried out spot checks of hospitality
businesses to ensure adherence with COVID-19 restrictions,
and supported businesses with advice on closing and
reopening and how to deal with outbreaks.

£205,000 secured from the Suffolk Inclusive Growth
Investment Fund to aid recovery and bring new prosperity
to West Suffolk’s town centres.
COVID-19

New skills initiatives delivered with our partners supporting
school pupils with their career aspirations, encouraged
businesses to employ apprentices while also becoming
partners in ‘Kickstart’ – which will boost opportunities for
young people in the workplace.

The new Epicentre building opened and welcomed new
businesses at the Haverhill Research Park, offering offices,
meeting rooms and laboratory space.

West Suffolk Manufacturing Group continued to attract a
wide range of manufacturers from across the area to share
experience, knowledge and networking opportunities while
moving to online meetings.

2020 to 2021 saw the final stages of the Mildenhall Hub’s
construction. The hub will deliver a better school, improved
leisure facilities and integrated community and public
services for the Page
benefit25
of people living in and around
the town.

3

Critical services of household waste and recycling collection
services maintained throughout the year despite reduced
staffing due to shielding and an increase in household waste.
COVID-19

1,690 planning applications granted.

Strategic approach to working towards net carbon zero
by 2030 agreed.

£1,430,000 secured from the Government’s Public Sector
Decarbonisation Scheme to help deliver a range of energy
efficiency, decarbonisation and battery energy storage projects
in our climate emergency action plan.

£2,750,000 secured from the Government’s Getting Building
Fund for the redevelopment of the former post office site
(17-18 Cornhill) in Bury St Edmunds, a project also with
investment from the council. Work began in this year on
the redevelopment which will provide improved access
and integration of the Arc, Cornhill and Buttermarket.

’25 market traders were supported to set up online delivery
services and promote their businesses online so they could
continue to trade through the pandemic, the number of
stallholders across Brandon and Haverhill markets was
increased and town centre events were organised in
Bury St Edmunds, Brandon and Haverhill.

We support the Love Newmarket Business Improvement
District (BID), voted for a further five year term by
Newmarket businesses. The BID supports local businesses,
works to improve the vitality of the town and will raise over
£1.5 million through an annual levy.

Page 26

4

Resilient families and communities
that are healthy and active

COVID-19

More than 2,035 calls handled on the Home But Not Alone
telephone line, which arranged for 120 emergency food parcels
to be delivered while working with 200 community groups to
support vulnerable households. 4,600 welfare calls made to
those who were identified as clinically extremely vulnerable.

LifeLink, which connects people to local social activities and
services to improve wellbeing, supported 2,120 participants
with 2,500 actions plans, 7,751 appointments and points of
contact and 2,212 hours of dedicated one-to-one time with
LifeLink coordinators.
£466,733 of Community Chest funding supported 35 projects
across 31 organisations. 62 organisations were supported
with online capacity training courses to outline funding
opportunities for voluntary organisations, community groups
and social enterprises. More than £207,000 of support was
distributed through locality budgets.

COVID-19

2,500 calls from businesses requiring support and advice to trade
in a COVID-19 safe manner were handled by Environmental
Health. More than 4,000 businesses, including hospitality trade,
licensed premises and private hire and hackney carriage licensees
were proactively contacted when guidance changed and 500 visits
to businesses were undertaken to check COVID-safe measures.
£425,000 funding secured from a Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy grant which will deliver a
park home insulation scheme across three parks. This is
part of a £1.2 million bid of which West Suffolk Council
was the lead authority.

660 litter picking kits delivered to volunteers in West Suffolk,
representing an increase of 270 on the previous year.

Refurbishment of the Newmarket Leisure Centre completed
in June 2020, which saw a larger gym, eGym, café and soft
Page 27
play area installed.

5

First phase of the update to Brandon Leisure Centre
completed in March 2021 with a new gym, changing rooms
and the installation of Brandon’s first Changing Places toilet.

County lines awareness training sessions held throughout the
year, engaging with 67 individuals over six online sessions.

A new skate park completed in Newmarket, featuring a
free-flowing all-in-one space with lighting and security cameras
installed for additional safety. The project was supported by
Orbit Housing, Anglian Water, Godolphin, Newmarket Town
Council, locality budget and the council, with Newmarket
Academy students fundraising for the project.

15,000 visitors enjoyed the Large Earth (Gaia) exhibition
hosted at the Apex between 3 and 18 October 2020.

COVID-19

£500,000 funding granted by the Arts Council to help
recover income lost from the Apex and West Stow Anglo
Saxon Village having to close due to the pandemic.
A new marquee purchased for West Stow has enabled
more outdoor opportunities for crafts, events and activities.

Footfall at Nowton, Brandon and East Town Parks significantly
higher than in the previous year.
COVID-19

3,500 responses to the West Suffolk Local Plan consultation
that included an innovative online virtual exhibition hall as new
ways of consulting were put in place due to the pandemic.
COVID-19

Page 28

6

Increased and improved provision of appropriate housing
in West Suffolk in both our towns and rural areas

64 empty homes brought back into use.

901 new houses delivered, exceeding our target of 814.

2,044 households supported to improve the quality of their
rented homes, exceeding the target of 1,283.

The Great Barton Neighbourhood Development Plan first phase
consultation received more than 3,000 comments, with 99 per
cent being submitted digitally.

New Independent Living Suffolk service introduced to complete
grant-funded works in the homes of disabled and vulnerable
residents, including urgent adaptions. This contributes to our
equality objective of ensuring that ‘housing meets the needs
of particular groups and enables them to remain independent’.

Delivered 35 per cent affordable housing (against our target of
30 per cent on developments of 10 homes or more).

Page 29

7

Development started of the second Barley Homes residential
site in Haverhill.

1,884 households at risk of homelessness provided with advice
and support.

196 individuals accommodated through the Government’s
Everyone In initiative since the first lockdown.
COVID-19

COVID-19

Successfully bid for more than £800,000 of Next Steps
Accommodation Programme funding to deliver three units
of temporary accommodation and 11 places for people with
additional support needs.

Innovative new personalised healthcare service launched with
the West Suffolk Clinical Commissioning Group, Marginalised
and Vulnerable Adults Service and Sanctuary Housing for
rough sleepers in supported accommodation.

Rough sleeper numbers dropped from 13 to four in one year.

Page 30

8

West Suffolk Council Environmental Statement 2020 to 2021
The pandemic has affected the council as it has other organisations globally.
The restrictions put in place meant that our offices had minimal occupancy.
However, many services still required vehicles or staff working in our communities.
These changes to operation and occupancy are reflected in the marked decrease in
environmental impacts set out in the 2020 to 2021 environmental statement.
The environmental statement shows reductions in waste, energy consumption
and business travel, all of which are dependent on people using our buildings.
Fuel consumed for refuse collection and other services requiring vehicle movements
showed a slight reduction.
The council recognises the potential for a shift in emissions caused by working at
home. However, calculating the exact impact of this is complex and depends on
variables such as building age, type and number of occupants, none of which the
council holds data for. Should home working be significant during 2021 to 2022, the
council will develop a representation of the potential impact since restrictions were
put in place.
Moving forward, the council will continue to learn from the effects of the pandemic
and look for further opportunities. We hope to continue to improve our performance
and lock in the benefits of some of the lessons learned.

Environment and biodiversity target and action plan adopted.

CO 2

West Suffolk Council emissions down 18.8 per cent, Abbeycroft
Leisure emissions down 42.8 per cent, total emissions down
28.6 per cent compared to 2019 to 2020, total emissions down
50.2 per cent compared to 2010 baseline.

Renewable energy generated increased by 11 per cent
compared to 2019 to 2020, representing an increase of
86 per cent compared to 2012.

Total owned vehicle emissions down 17 per cent compared to
the 2010 to 2011 baseline and total fuel use down 11 per cent
compared to 2019 to 2020.
Page 31
9

West Suffolk Council business travel down 67 per cent
compared to 2019 to 2020, West Suffolk Council business
travel down 78 per cent compared to 2010 baseline.

West Suffolk Council water use down 28 per cent, Abbeycroft
Leisure water use down 66 per cent, total water use down 52
per cent compared to 2019 to 2020, total water use down 58
per cent compared to baseline.

Total office waste down 52 per cent. The recycling rate is 75.5
per cent, which is up 39 per cent compared to 2019 to 2020.

Six parks maintained Green Flag status.

Public electric vehicle chargers installed by West Suffolk
Council can support 41 electric vehicles charging at the
same time.

West Suffolk Council electric vehicle charge points provided
enough electrical energy for vehicles to travel 120,758 miles.

1,500 trees planted across the district.

Page 32

10

Agenda Item 8

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032

Environment and
Climate Change Action
Plans: 2021 Update
Report number:

CAB/WS/21/032

Report to and date:

Cabinet

Cabinet member:

Councillor John Griffiths
Leader of the Council
Tel: 01284 757136
Email: john.griffiths@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Jill Korwin
Strategic Director
Tel: 01284 757252
Email: jill.korwin@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

The decision made as a result of this report will
usually be published within 48 hours and cannot be
actioned until five clear working days of the
publication of the decision have elapsed. This item is
included on the Decisions Plan.

Wards impacted:

All

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Cabinet:

20 July 2021

1.

Reviews progress against the Environment
and Climate Change action plans and makes
recommendations for any change to the
proposed actions and activities, as set out in
Appendix A to Report number
CAB/WS/21/032.

2.

Agrees that future progress updates be
provided as part of the Annual

Page 33

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032
Environmental Statement which forms part
of the Council’s Annual Report.
3.

Approves the full Environmental Statement
for the Council’s 2020/21 performance,
included as Appendix B to Report number
CAB/WS/21/032.

4.

Endorses the Suffolk Climate Emergency
Plan, included as Appendix C to Report
Number CAB/WS/21/032.

Page 34

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032

1.

Context to this report

1.1

In September 2019, West Suffolk Council declared a climate emergency,
having already established the Environment and Climate Change Taskforce
(the Taskforce). The aim of the Taskforce was to make recommendations
on the Council’s future role in protecting and enhancing the environment,
both in the way in which it carries out its operations and through specific
initiatives.

1.2

Following the Taskforce’s extensive evidence gathering, engagement and
analysis work, they presented recommendations to Cabinet. On 21 July
2020 Cabinet agreed an action plan, designed to implement the
recommendations of the Taskforce, and to be taken forward by officers
and overseen by Cabinet. Cabinet also agreed to a review of progress
against the actions.

1.3

The recommendations to Cabinet covered two separate papers. The first
as a list of recommendations on climate change issues; the second, a
report setting out recommendations for environmental and biodiversity
issues. The second paper also recommended that the Council’s Climate
Emergency declaration be updated to specifically state ‘Climate and
Environment Emergency’, which was duly agreed by Cabinet.

1.4

This report updates Cabinet on progress in implementing the agreed
actions from both reports and summarises some of the wider
developments that have affects upon the Council’s work in lowering carbon
emissions and improving environmental impacts across the organisation.
It also includes the full Environmental Statement, an annual summary of
the Council’s performance in regard to the environment and climate
change. (A summary of this statement is included in the Annual Report).
Finally, it references the Suffolk Climate Emergency Plan that has been
approved by Suffolk’s Public Sector Leaders.

1.5

It should be noted that to accelerate delivery further, investment into
specific schemes and projects will be required, and this will be the matter
of separate business cases.

2.

Progress against actions

2.1

The updated action plan attached at Appendix A shows the progress made
in implementing the actions since July 2020.

2.2

As this is a long-term plan to achieve Net-Zero Carbon that will require
substantial activity until at least 2030, it is recommended that further
updates be contained within the annual Environment Statement, with
Cabinet specifically updated upon request or when approval is required for
any future major projects.

Page 35

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032
2.3

The effects of COVID-19 have inevitably had an impact on the actions
taken by the council and environmental outcomes. In part this is due to
new working practices or changes the public have made. Services have
continued, with specific effort given to the delivery of the council’s climate
change and environment aims. However, understandably there have been
some delays in certain areas.

2.4

The Environmental Statement (Appendix B) shows strong progress against
our emissions targets for 20/21, delivered primarily through the changes
to working practices that had to made in response to Covid 19. It is
intended to build on those new practices (less travel, flexible and agile
working practices) moving forward so we do not see a return to 19/20
emissions levels from our business activity. Key highlights include:
a. West Suffolk Council emissions down 18.8% compared to last year,
(28.6% reduction including Abbeycroft Leisure emissions),
b. Renewable energy generated up 11% compared to last year,
c. Total fleet/council fuel use down 11% compared to last year,
d. West Suffolk Council business travel down 67% compared to last
year,
e. Total office waste is down 52% compared to last year, the recycling
rate is 75.5%, which is up 39% compared to last year.

2.5

The Carbon Budget agreed at Cabinet in 2020 is included in the
Environment Statement. The net zero plan which formed part of the 2020
report illustrates potential routes to net zero by 2030. This is broken down
into potential workstreams, such as reducing emissions from existing
buildings, investing in renewable generation projects, and moving fleet to
electric/hydrogen solutions. These are reflected in the strategic action plan
(Appendix A).

2.6

The proposed carbon budget periods were:
a. April 2020 – Mar 2024 – steady annual emission rate of 4,675
tCO2e/year
b. April 2024 – Mar 2028 – steady annual emission rate of 2,484
tCO2e/year
c. April 2028 – Mar 2030 – steady annual emission rate of 840
tCO2e/year
d. Zero emissions in 2030/31.

Page 36

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032
For year 2020/21, the council is within the carbon budget, with emissions
standing at 4,093 tCO2e against the budgets allowed rate of 4,675 tCO2e.
2.7

Role of the Environment Management Group (EMG)
The Environment Management Group (EMG) was initially formed in 2015
as a group for officers seeking to champion internal and external
environmental performance and sustainability issues across West Suffolk
Council.

2.7.1

Since the conclusion of the Taskforce, the role of the EMG has been
augmented as the main monitoring and implementation body for
environment and climate change issues across the Council.

2.7.2

The membership of the EMG includes the Strategic Director as Chair, the
council’s Energy Advisor as deputy Chair, as well as all the lead officers
involved in the Taskforce and other representatives ensuring that all
relevant teams within the council are represented.

2.7.3

The recommendations from the Taskforce were set out in three groups:
a. Short-term actions that can be completed by 2022 that do not
require an additional resource commitment from the Council,
b. Longer Term actions necessary that would enable the Council to set
an ambition to become Net Zero-Emissions Council by 2030,
c. Wider activity to support the improvement in emissions across
Suffolk.

2.7.4

For practical reasons, the EMG has restructured the action plan set out by
the taskforce into:
a. Strategic Actions – larger or longer-term actions that represent key
strategic objectives
b. Tasks – smaller actions that represent the building blocks of the
strategic actions
c. Community or external engagement – tasks that are external to the
council or focused on communications.
The updated action plan, addressing both climate change and environment
and biodiversity issues (Appendix A) reflects these changes, and a
summary of key achievements is included at 2.9.

2.8

County Wide Work
Council officers and members of Cabinet have been part of a Suffolk wide
approach to tackle climate change. The Suffolk Public Sector Leaders’
group (SPSL) allocated funding to support work across the County to

Page 37

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032
improve environmental performance. An evidence report commissioned in
2020 set out the baseline of environmental performance across Suffolk
and made initial suggestions for what would be necessary for Suffolk as a
place to achieve net zero emissions by 2030.
2.8.1

As part of the COVID-19 recovery plan for Suffolk, and responding to the
evidence report, the opportunity to build on the measurable environmental
benefits has been progressed through the development of the Suffolk
Climate Emergency Plan (SCEP) (Appendix C) which was approved by
SPSL last month. That plan does not seek to duplicate what individual
partners are doing, but rather take the opportunity to bring together
activities where collective action can deliver further results and engage,
support, and encourage the wider Suffolk community to play their part to
enable Suffolk as a whole to work towards achieving Carbon Net- Zero.
The Suffolk Climate Change, Environment and Energy Board (SCCEEB),
which is comprised from officer representatives from all public sector
organisations in Suffolk, and chaired by West Suffolk’s Strategic Director,
has steered the development of the SCEP, and provides county wide coordination of environment and climate change activity.

2.8.2

The EMG will continue to monitor Suffolk-wide actions and other external
opportunities that may influence or benefit West Suffolk’s activities as they
arise.

2.9

Early Successes
West Suffolk Council has successfully secured £1.4m of government
funding (Public Sector Decarbonisation Fund) to support a programme of
works to decarbonise the Council’s estate. The programme of works built
upon the plan developed to support the Net Zero Emissions target and
includes glazing, solar PV installations and air source heat pumps at a
number of Council buildings. In addition, it will support the installation of
new electrical infrastructure and a battery energy storage system to
provide benefits to West Suffolk House in the short term and then support
the energy provision for the new Western Way Development.

2.9.1

These projects alone are expected to deliver energy cost savings and
income generation in the region of £70,000 - £100,000 per year once fully
installed (final design and operation will inform actual savings).

2.9.2

In December 2020, a Suffolk consortium led by West Suffolk Council was
awarded over £1 million from the Department of Business Energy and
Industrial Strategy. The Green Homes Grants are for five projects to be
started by 31 March 2021. In February this grant was increased by an
extra £3 million.

2.9.3

For the West Suffolk project alone, the work from the first phase of the
Green Homes Grants has resulted in:

Page 38

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032




36 park home properties with external wall insulation (EWI)
installations complete.
4 owner occupiers with completed finance checks ready to have the
EWI works commence
4 people in private rented properties awaiting landlord confirmations
to have the works commence

2.9.5

For the next phase, 97 resident expressions of interest were received for
having EWI installed, and a series of property surveys were undertaken by
the installer to understand how many of these can progress with an
installation. Savings for off gas grid properties are in the region of £235 a
year in energy bills and reduce their carbon footprint by 960kgCO2 a year
as per.

2.9.6

Other successes include:
Theme
Housing

Early successes



Renewables





Travel & transport





Council
consumption




Waste & recycling



Climate change and environment listed as
core issues for the emerging Local Plan.
Around 300 properties identified as lowest
energy efficiency (F / G). An improvement
programme for the first 100 properties
agreed with landlords.
10 residents signed up to the EDF heat
pump offer.
The council has hosted live presentations
on heat pumps and funding support for
residents in several villages.
Council has continued to install solar PV
systems on local business premises (such
as Precision Marketing and Claas).
Council has promoted the Plug in Suffolk
grant scheme, which supports community
groups to install EV chargers – such as
Ixworth village hall.
We have now installed 46 EV chargers
across 15 locations, with more in
installation/planning stage.
Council now uses recycled paper at print
stations.
Utilising post-Brexit procurement rules to
localise council’s procurement – as can
now reserve contracts for local suppliers.
Nearly 1000 residents signed up as
volunteer litter pickers – and the councils
previous litter campaign is being used as
national best practice example for current
funding opportunities.

Page 39

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032

Environment and
biodiversity



The Food Savvy campaign has helped
promote the reduction of food waste.
Research undertaken with Norfolk and
Suffolk Residents shows that food waste is
reducing.




1500 trees planted across the area.
Following a trial of peat free alternatives
in 2020, the council’s parks are
completely peat free from 2021.

2.9.7

Developments to the plan
The plan has been updated with a specific reference to listed buildings. A
new action is proposed to “Develop support and guidance for owners of
listed properties seeking to improve their energy performance”.

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

The Council has committed to work to achieve net-zero by 2030. This
plan will continue to evolve as new technology and innovations develop to
support this goal. At this stage no alternative options have been
considered.

4.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

There is an ongoing risk that the resources required to implement the
action plan will not be available. However, this risk will be monitored by
the EMG, with any opportunities for securing external resources monitored
and pursued as appropriate, and Cabinet advised of any serious delays in
implementation or resource requirements.

5.

Implications arising from the proposals

Please note that the implications below focus on the outcomes of the action
plan at present. As more detailed actions are developed (where
appropriate) specific assessment will need to be undertaken to evaluate the
implications of each action.
5.1

Financial - There are no specific financial implications arising from this
report. Where individual projects require investment, this will be a
separate report.

5.2

Legal Compliance - No implications.

5.3

Personal Data Processing - No implications.

5.4

Equalities - The Taskforce expect that equality impacts should be positive

Page 40

Cabinet – 20 July 2021 – CAB/WS/21/032
as a result of their work, however this would need to be subject to further
assessment based on each action.
5.5

Crime and Disorder - No implications.

5.6

Environment or Sustainability - The recommendations will have a positive
impact on the environment.

5.7

HR or Staffing - No implications from this report; further activity may
require additional staff to support, and this will be subject to business
cases or separate requests.

5.8

Changes to existing policies - Procurement Policy is under review.

5.9

External organisations (such as businesses, community groups)
The Taskforce’s recommendations specifically state potential partner
organisations that will need to be involved with implementing
recommendations, e.g., Air Quality. Officers have made partner
organisations aware of the nature of the recommendations to Cabinet and
will communicate on a more formal basis after the Cabinet meeting.

6.

Appendices referenced in this report

6.1

Appendix A – Environment and Climate Change Action Plan – Updated

6.2

Appendix B – West Suffolk 2020/21 Environmental Statement

6.3

Appendix C – The Suffolk Climate Emergency Plan (not attached to this
report, but can be accessed via this link)

7.

Background documents associated with this
report

7.1

Report number CAB/WS/20/045 (Cabinet: 21 July 2020)
West Suffolk Environment and Climate Change Taskforce – Final Report

7.2

Report number CAB/WS/20/046 (Cabinet: 21 July 2020)
Report of the Environment and Climate Change Taskforce – Environment
and Biodiversity Emergency
The Suffolk Climate Emergency Plan

7.3

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A – Environment and Climate Change Taskforce Implementation – Action Plan
Key
Colour Coding:
Internal / Process focused
External / Service focused
Community or External Engagement / Communications focus

Theme/Workstream

Strategic Action

Page 43
Housing

1. Use planning policy to
ensure higher performance
in new build.

Planned tasks
1. Liaise with planning policy to
improve and strengthen
environmental requirements/
considerations within the WS Local
Plan and Strategic Plan.

Progress
ONGOING: Gathering evidence base. Seeking to tie in with
wider-Suffolk approach. Consultation planned for January
2022

2. Identify properties that fail
Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards
(MEES).

ONGOING: 300 properties in WS identified as F / G or
worse. Now focusing on 100 properties owned by single
landlord. An improvement programme agreed with the
landlord, with the review in May. This project is expected to
finish by the end of 2021.

3. Identify and promote available
assistance.

ONGOING: Green Homes Fund bid via Suffolk Partnership successfully obtained significant funding (£3.5m) across
Suffolk. Now finding how much to be allocated to WS.
Flagship to update their properties - heating and insulation.

4. Ensure that Environment and
Energy Team are involved in the
formulation of new Local Planning
Policies in respect of climate change
and environment issues.

ONGOING: Meetings scheduled on an ongoing basis with
officers working on other key projects, such as the Local
Plan, to ensure the environmental aspects are known.

5. Develop a technical paper to
support our response to a climate
emergency through new and existing

ONGOING: The Environmental and Energy team have
undertaken scoping work and noted that a number of new
developments review their approach to energy and

Page 44

2. Scope the development
and respond to
opportunities for energy
efficiency programmes for
home- owners in WS to
improve their homes with
energy efficient measures.

3. Explore working with
partners to improve
energy efficient of homes.

4. Develop Greener Homes
Forum to encourage
greener developments

Renewables

1. Install renewable
energy systems when
replacing/maintaining

development.

emissions savings with an increased level of savings
proposed and more onsite renewables.

6. Propose a review of the current
validation process to ensure there is
clarity on what is required and that
this supports achieving our existing
aims.

ONGOING: Review of validation list is underway and due to
be completed in 2021.

7. Review options for solar panelling
(more environmentally friendly) on
listed buildings
1. Review West Suffolk Council’s
Housing Assistance Policy.

ONGOING: Officers undertaking horizon scan for best
practice examples (both private development and local
authority examples)
COMPLETE: Reviewed financial capital programme and
made the decision to revise/restrict policy to emergency
housing concerns - rather than expand to efficiency
performance.

2. Undertake review of development
and opportunities of energy efficiency
programmes for home- owners,
developers, and others.

DELAYED: Task under review to consider financially viability
and impact on 2030 targets. What about the LAD schemes?

3. Develop support and guidance for
owners of listed properties seeking to
improve their energy performance.
1. Explore the potential with Barley
Homes Board for higher energy
efficient spec for their builds.

ONGOING: The council is reviewing better best practice on
listed homes/solar panels and working with partners across
Suffolk to understand resource requirements.
ONGOING: Initial discussions underway. We are searching
for an agreed standard adopted by the council

2. Work with partners to explore
means to improve energy efficient of
homes.
1. Work with Greener Homes Forum
to encourage developers to build
more energy efficient homes

SCOPING: Currently scoping task, but conversations with
Flagship Homes have taken place.

2. Develop engagement process with
existing Developers Forum
1. Carry out a regular review of the
council’s property portfolio to assess
the opportunities for renewables.

ON HOLD: This is under review as a more efficient
alternative may be possible. An Initial Suffolk wide
conversation has been had to explore a wider workshop
ONGOING: The EMG is currently considering the relevant of
a Greener Homes Forum and instead scoping the potential
to further develop the Developers Forum.
ONGOING: WSC has been awarded £1.3m for energy
efficiency improvements, including renewable heating in
council buildings from the Public Sector Decarbonisation

West Suffolk Council
assets.

1. Continue to offer the successful
bulk buying ‘Suffolk Solar Together’
initiative and explore a similar bulk
buy initiative for domestic air source
heat pumps.
2. Promote domestic
renewable energy
technologies, initially
focusing on solar PV and
Air Source Heat Pumps.

Page 45

2. Explore the opportunity to work
with EDF to trial their hybrid air
source heat pump scheme in West
Suffolk.

COMPLETE: There have been 10 resident signups to the
EDF heat pump offer. The scheme is closed to new
applications.

3. Investigate opportunity to roll out
EDF hybrid air source heat pump
scheme for residents in West Suffolk.

COMPLETE: Environmental health team have hosted live
presentations with Q&As covering domestic heat pumps &
funding support for residents in Gazeley, Moulton &
Ixworth. The scheme is closed to new applications.
ONGOING: Environmental and Energy team have continued
to install solar PV systems on local business premises,
including Precision Marketing and Claas.337KW of new
solar PV has been installed at 11 sites since April 2020

1. Continue to invest in our ‘Solar for
Business’ scheme.
3. Investigate
opportunities to build and
own another solar farm.

Travel & Transport

1. Continued professional
development of driving
staff.

Fund. In addition, the Environment and Energy team have
advised on the energy considerations of the Mildenhall Hub,
with 160 kWp solar PV, GSHP to heat the swimming pool,
and combined heat and power to provide electricity to the
site. The battery energy storage system due for
commissioning in July 2021.
ONGOING: There will be another Suffolk Solar Together
promotion launching in the summer of 2021. Installations
of domestic solar PV systems are currently underway
across Suffolk in the third year of ‘Suffolk solar together’.
Plans to open the process again in Autumn 2021

2. Explore the potential for another
solar farm by assessing the legal,
commercial and technical viability of
opportunities.

ONGOING: Feasibility study commissioned for a site in the
district. Several sites have been investigated to consider
whether grid connection costs have been a barrier to
progress any of the sites.

1. Consider using a driving efficiency
metric within drivers PDRs to
encourage more fuel efficient and
safe driving.

ONGOING: Currently working out an efficiency metric for
different vehicle types – some challenges due to limitations
of monitoring system.

2. Professional development through
training given to driving staff to aid in
understanding the outcomes of
differing driver behaviours on
emissions and encourage positive
change.

ONGOING: This was made more complicated due to
COVID-19 restrictions. However, the CPC Courses are
booked in with the provider for the Autumn 2021 – behind
schedule as 2020 course was missed due to Covid.

2. Develop Transport
partnerships

Page 46
3. Continue to work with
partners and community
groups to improve air
quality.

4. Fleet Management to
ensure that council invests
in appropriate ULEV.

1. Work with Suffolk County Council
to ensure West Suffolk benefits from
the Cycling and Walking Fund.

ONGOING: An updated Cycling and Walking Investment
Strategy was launched in the summer of 2020, with the
aim of doubling participation by 2025. Stage 1 submissions
have been defined by Suffolk County Council’s policy
development panel and conversations are ongoing.

2. Work with partners to develop an
EV charging Point strategy and roll
out plan.

COMPLETE: Met with partners across Suffolk and Norfolk.
With the county level strategy is planned to focus on rapid
charging infrastructure, a one page summary was shared
with partners in Feb 2021. We have now installed 46 EV
chargers across 15 locations, with more in
installation/planning stage.

3. Support Suffolk-wide air quality
monitoring pilot with a view to finding
opportunities to improve air quality in
hotspot areas and gain greater
insight into particulate pollution.
1. Increase impetus on measures to
tackle vehicle idling in sensitive
locations.

ONGOING: Communication with SCC and University of
Suffolk (UoS) is ongoing and new opportunities being
discussed. Numerous technologies have been suggested by
UoS and are being explored.

2. Work with partners to promote
improvement of air quality by sharing
information and positive work
practices.

ONGOING: Suffolk officers meet twice per year to share
updates and best practice including highways & county
council public health officers.

3. Develop partnerships with
community groups to improve air
quality

DELAYED: Following the relaxation of COVID-19
restrictions, the Environmental Health team are working
with the BSE QA group to discuss next steps.

4. Continue to support residents of
West Suffolk to identify and develop
community projects aimed at
informing and promoting ways to
improve air quality throughout the
district.

ONGOING: Several projects have been identified and
offered support - the council have promoted the Plug in
Suffolk grant scheme, which supports community groups to
install EV chargers- eg Ixworth village hall & the Quiet
lanes project. Worked with Churchgate residents
association, who launched a campaign in time for clean air
day on 17 June 2021.
ONGOING: Alternative fuels have been
investigated. Relevant officers are putting proposal
together on switching to Hydrotreated Vegetable Oil (HVO).
Renault Zoe EV was given to supervisors to try out in first
instance for a demo.

1. Review of alternative fuel vehicles
as part of vehicle procurement
process.

DELAYED: Now that COVID-19 restrictions have been lifted,
the Environmental Health team will be working with schools
to deliver educational sessions with local schools.

Page 47

2. For all who request new fleet
vehicles, review their needs and
consider ULEV alternatives. Starting
with civil parking enforcement vans.

ONGOING: Seven vehicles purchased or on order, including
one Toyota Yaris 1.5 Hybrid.
Officers now looking to include electric vans by the end of
2021-22 for supervisors when vehicles are up for
replacement.

3. Engage with Energy Saving Trust
fleet review service.

ONGOING: EST have used staff mileage information for
their report, which is still pending. The council will use the
annual Env statement for reviewing fleet fuel use.

4. Continue trials of alternative
technologies for commercial vehicles.
i.e. Road Sweepers.

ONGOING: Demonstration of Renault ZOE at the end of
June 2021. Staff with vehicles up for renewal will be used
to test the alternative vehicles.

5. When replacing the existing fleet of
waste collection vehicles, consider the
purchase of at least one electric
vehicle.

ONGOING: Currently considering HVO vehicles, but will
continued to review new technologies coming on to the
market, including electric RCVs.

6. Develop new Pool Car service

ONGOING: Pool Car use is minimal due to COVID-19.
Officers looking into introducing Electric Vehicles into the
fleet. Now in final stages of Olding road wayleave
agreement. However, date still pending for commencing
groundwork on new EV chargers.
ONGOING: The Environment and Energy Team are
reviewing. A request to audit to investigate how we
produce and review the information has been made.

1. Review and update environment
management systems

Council
Consumption and
Accreditation

1. Review and update
organisation’s
environmental
management systems.

2. Work with all building users to
reduce paper consumption by 5 per
cent.

DELAYED: COVID-19 restrictions made this task difficult to
undertake. While paper consumption has decreased due to
home working arrangements, we are now reviewing
whether this trend will continue now that COVID-19
restrictions are lifted.

3. Work with HR (and possibly SCC)
to update the WSH green travel plan.

ONGOING: Scoping work and initial conversations with HR
have been undertaken.

4. Introduce a suitable water
consumption metric to compare
building performance. Develop into
league table.

ONGOING: Agreed to use the new property database from
2021. Currently scoping which sites have AMRs on their
water meter.

Page 48

2. Reduce energy
consumption from all sites.

3. Learning from COVID Encourage all council
teams to consider and
review their ways of
working

5. Ensure that Cafe West is disposing
of waste in most sustainable way.

ON HOLD: Trialled food waste collection but would be a
cost involved. Officers are set to follow up with VERSE
concerning an action plan.

6. Create an environmental tally that
keeps track of number of trees
planted, number of zero emissions
miles travelled, etc.

ONGOING: The tally has been scoped for use. It is intended
for it to be added to by other teams and be a simple way of
keeping track of communicable metrics for twitter etc.

1. Set out a prioritised list of energy
efficiency projects for all key sites,
with projects implemented based
upon available budget, return and
site constraints.

ONGOING: Under development, initial phase of works will
focus upon delivering the Public Sector Decarbonisation
Scheme Project. Project includes work to improve
efficiency, replace gas with air source heat pumps (ASHP),
install further Solar PV and install a new Battery Energy
Storage System (BESS). Budget allocation of £1.845m to
meet new standards for EPC rating for public buildings.

2. Implement a 5% reduction in
building energy consumption across
the council's portfolio.

DELAYED: COVID-19 restrictions have impeded work.
However, officers will meet with building managers to work
out a plan for identifying energy efficiency opportunities.

3. Ensure that correct summer
settings are in place ready for
summer season 2020/21.

COMPLETE: Buildings are making use of natural ventilation
where possible.

4. Update property database with
building floor areas and develop
benchmark and a metric (kWh/m2 or
kWh/pp) to assess building energy
use.

ONGOING: Officers ensuring that an asset management
approach, using per person/staffing numbers per building,
is fed into the new property database.

1. Communications to encourage staff
to embed carbon emission lowering
approaches etc.

DELAYED: Task intended for after COVID-19 restrictions
permanently lifted. Now considering how to action.

2. Promote the environmental
benefits and help to enable flexible
working (working from home using
Skype for Business; Microsoft teams)
amongst employees.

ONGOING: Working with IT, officers have shared learning
from Baily and French workshops on flexible working and
what needs to be done to maintain this moving forward.

Page 49

4. Encourage all
employees to understand
their own eco footprint.

3. Offer training on environment and
climate change to staff – “ways of
working”.

ONGOING: Quoted cost received for possible training
programme considered too high. As such, officers have
been developing fact sheets to be shared on the intranet.

4. Seek to increase office recycling
provision supported with clear
signage/ comms

DELAYED: Review underway now that COVID-19
restrictions lifted.

5. Council offices to use recycled or
sustainably sourced paper – “ways of
working”.

COMPLETE: Now have recycled paper at print stations.

1. Using a variety of methods
(internal comms, training etc.)
encourage employees to understand
eco footprint

ONGOING: Footprinting tool to be shared on the intranet by
end of 2021.

2. Organise another office waste audit
and raise staff awareness within
selected office.

DELAYED: Now that COVID-19 restrictions are lifted,
officers undertaking review.

3. Create a mechanism for staff to
share environmental pledges with
communications team.

ONGOING: EMG members have developed a project
proposal, designed to utilise new interns to carry out
scoping exercise to understand the emissions and
environmental impact of each team in the council. From
here, can isolate examples of best practice found within the
council and distil in a guidance document. Can then develop
pledges.
COMPLETE: In post-Brexit scenario, we can now reserve
contracts (for below threshold) for local suppliers or by
target group (SMEs/ VCSEs etc). This has been
communicated to staff to be aware for future contracts.

1. Explore options around localised
procurement options
5. Consider developing a
more localised
procurement approach to
improve the local economy
and lower carbon
emissions associated with
the council’s own supply
lines.

2. Produce a toolkit to help contract
managers and bidders understand
environmental requirements of the
procurement policy within tenders.

ONGOING: Rather than duplicating our efforts, we will
adopt the toolkit produced by the LGA, expected by end
2021.

3. New Procurement Policy that
encourages localised and green
procurement.

ONGOING: The council is working to finalise a new
Procurement Policy for West Suffolk. Inputs has been
received from the EMG and incorporated.

1. Reduce the amount of waste that
is created by public and businesses,
such as food waste, through
awareness raising campaigns across
Suffolk.
2. Work to increase recycling through
the use of blue bin and recycling sites
in order to maximise the use of the
current recycling systems in Suffolk.
Waste and
Recycling

1. Reduce public waste
and improve recycling
output

3. Increase the quality of waste
collected for recycling in response to
commodity market requirements.

Page 50

4. Continue to promote anti- litter
initiatives.

5. Influence and respond to the
future government Recycling and
Waste Strategy for England, to be
implemented from 2023 onwards.

Biodiversity and
Environment

1. Through the local plan
process address the
challenge of protecting and
enhancing biodiversity
while providing growth.

ONGOING: Research undertaken with Norfolk and Suffolk
Residents to understand behaviour linked to food waste.
Showed that food waste is reducing as more people are
spending time at home, are using shopping lists and are
eating their leftovers. A new employee engagement activity
designed to allow remote workers to work together to
understand food waste behaviours is in development.
ONGOING: SWP campaign to increase recycling and reduce
contamination. Sites suitable for glass recycling are being
scoped.
ONGOING: Crews are engaged with reducing contamination
collected. A new report has been created to help target
specific households who are repeatedly contaminating their
bins.
ONGOING: Supporting nearly 1000 residents signed up as
volunteer litter pickers. Previous litter campaign being used
as national best practice example for current funding
opportunity. Application for further external funding from
"Binfrastructure" grant underway.
ONGOING: Consultations are now open, and officers are
working with a wide range of partners to try and
understand what the impacts to local authorities will be.

1. Develop the skills in the Planning
team in respect of natural capital,
ecosystem services and in particular
Green Infrastructure (GI) and
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG).

ONGOING: National guidance is expected to be released in
the summer 2021. However, West Suffolk officers are
requested to attend training events in the East of England.

2. Review resources necessary to
monitor adherence with planning
policy and permissions to ensure
agreed biodiversity and landscape
improvements are implemented.

ONGOING: One FTE is in place and resource concerns have
been identified. A business case has been prepared and
Place Services are supporting the DM function providing
advice to planning applications on a part time temporary
basis. This temporary solution will be reviewed before the
end of 2021.

3. Investigate and develop a new
local plan tree policy and work with

ONGOING: ‘Tree Policy’ will be delivered as part of the
West Suffolk Local Plan. The (draft) policy is likely to be

partners and developers to encourage
sustainable tree retention and
increase canopy cover.

included in the next iteration of the Local Plan which will be
consulted on in January 2022

4. Look for outside opportunities for
grant funding or other support.

ONGOING: Active member of the Brecks HLF (MEANING) lots of their voluntary activity has been postponed due to
COVID-19. However, West Stow will see benefit from
funding with the reintroduction of traditional management
practices within the park area.

5. Adhere to and progress the actions
set out in West Suffolk’s Tree
strategy.

Page 51

6. Work with partners to develop a
West Suffolk Wide Green
Infrastructure Strategy (GIS).

ONGOING: The council is keeping a record of the number of
trees that are planted per year, which can be used for
annual reporting. This also captures trees that are going in
on larger projects, such as the Mildenhall hub, as well as
the usual team activity.
ONGOING: To identify and quantify green spaces within
WS, the council has set out tender for a supplier.
Consultants now appointed.

1. Identify improvements on previous
Green Flag (GF) scores.

ONGOING: Currently updating the GF management plans
for submission in 2021. Improving the plans to include
more detail on key criterion (1, Environmental
management; 2, Biodiversity; 3, Landscape; 4, Heritage).
We now have six green flag sites in the District – More than
any other district in the county.

2. Encourage responsible use of
natural environment in parks and
open spaces.

ONGOING: The council is creating information brochures for
key parks and have done so for Brandon, Abbey Gardens
and West Stow. As of March 2021, the brochure for Nowton
Park was completed, with plans for a further brochure for
East Town Park. 1500 trees planted across the area.

3. Review the maintenance regimes
of grass areas owned by the council
to increase biodiversity.

ONGOING: First phase of this work is to capture all of these
grass areas on the GIS system and writing up cyclical
regimes. Now looking to implement the new regimes.

4. For those sites not subject to
Green Flag scrutiny, progress the
recommendations made in the Suffolk
Wildlife Trust (SWT) phase one habit

ONGOING: Progressing improvements at Ram Meadow
working with the River Lark Catchment Partnership and
Bury Watermeadows Group. Working with Suffolk
Biodiversity Information Service (SBIS) to collect and
review data on valuable habitat environments. Working

2. Developing Parks and
Green Spaces

surveys for the public open spaces
surveyed in 2018.

5. Review the machinery used on
grounds and green spaces
maintenance (replace the
petrol/diesel machines with electric).

Page 52

3. Improving Wetlands

4. Reducing the
environmental impact of
events

with Breckland Flora Group to encourage Field Wormwood
on Brandon Industrial Estate & Mildenhall College Heath
Road sites. In addition, members of the Parks and Leisure
team have assisted officers working on the Mildenhall Hub
site through selecting soft landscape plants, including 110
trees.
ONGOING: On 11 Jan 2021, the council took receipt of four
new pieces of horticultural equipment at the Abbey
gardens. The new electrical items replace former fossil fuel
driven machines.
The new kit are:
• A lawn mower
• Hedge trimmer
• Leaf blower
• Strimmer/brush cutter

1. Map all the existing rivers, ponds,
lakes and SUD's in the district which
are in West Suffolk’s ownership or
that we have riparian responsibilities
for

ONGOING: Working in partnership with Dedham Vale AONB
and other groups, the council is investigating methods to
limit invasive species along the Stour Brook and improving
the drainage channels in Ram Meadow.

1. Review current conditions of hire
to tighten up on issues such as:

Not permitting single use
plastics, unless required for
H&S reasons;

Waste material is minimised;

Recycling and compose bins
to be used;

Food choices promote
sustainability

ONGOING: Inserted some provisions in the documentation
for hiring spaces to encourage hirers to be more
sustainable and this will be reviewed as an ongoing action.

2. Investigate setting up a West
Suffolk SMART map app or making
use of the smart mapping technology
on the existing What’s on West
Suffolk Website.

NOT STARTED: Work is expected to begin later in 2021

5. Continue to work with
our Facilities Maintenance
provider VERSE to ensure
that in Cafes and Kiosks:
Single use plastics is
minimalised and where
possible not used at all;
That they will provide tap
water free on request and
advertise this service;
Products are locally
sourced where possible
and food choices promote
sustainability

1. West Stow visitor Centre - Engage
with Verse operating the café and to
introduce waste management actions
with staff.

DELAYED: Both tasks delayed due to COVID-19. Officers
now reviewing actions.

2. Replicate West Stow visitor Centre
waste management actions at other
sites.

Page 53

1. Reduce peat use to zero

COMLPLETE: Following trialling of peat free alternatives
among suppliers the council area is now peat free.

2. Stop the use of Glyphosate when
an alternative solution has been
identified.

ONGOING: Use is minimal in first instance. The council has
reached out to other LA's that have undertaken extensive
trials to eliminate Glyphosate and is facilitating shared
learning among this new network. Undertaking a trial
demonstration of electric use in Summer 2021.

1. Increase provision of cycle racks
and charging points at parks.

ONGOING: Most sites already have bike racks. This is being
incorporated into a review of sites for EV chargers.

DELAYED: Delayed due to COVID-19. Now considering how
to action these events.

8. Awareness raising
campaigns

1. Provide a range of public events
and awareness campaigns at Parks,
with a Ranger presence, to promote
green initiatives and to provide advice
to residents on how to protect and
enhance habitats within their
neighbourhoods.

9. Engage with partners to
deploy green improvement
schemes

1. Utilise, and where necessary
support partners to engage in green
improvements schemes e.g. Park
Friends of groups, and other
voluntary organisations.

DELAYED: Delayed due to COVID-19. Officers engaging
with partners to scope opportunities and support needed.

6. Actively seek to reduce
the use of Glyphosate and
remain vigilant to
alternative methods of
controlling unwanted
vegetation, with the longer
term of doing away with
its usage altogether.
7. Promote greener ways
of travel to parks &
recreation sites and where
they exist providing details
nearest bus drop off and
collection points.

Page 54

Appendix B

Environmental Statement
2020-2021

Page 55

Contents
1.

Introduction and overview of
environmental performance

2.

Building energy use

3.

Renewable energy

4.

Fuel use

5.

Business travel

6.

Water consumption

7.

Corporate waste

8.

Biodiversity and parks

9.

Environmental compliance

10. Appendix 1

Page 56

2

1. Introduction

This report is a summary of the outcome of the activities West Suffolk Council (WSC) undertook to manage and reduce its environmental impact during the year ending 31 March 2021.
After the declaration of an Environment and Biodiversity Emergency in West Suffolk in September 2019, West Suffolk Council launched an Environment and Climate Change Task Force
to evaluate current progress and develop new avenues to help reduce greenhouse gas emissions in line with current aspirations. The Task Force’s recommendations were confirmed by
cabinet and West Suffolk Council agreed a Net Zero Emissions by 2030 target with carbon
budgeting periods agreed to measure performance towards this target – see Table 1. The
Environmental Management Group has taken the outcomes of the taskforce and developed
an action plan to achieve them. The Environmental Management Group has cross Council
membership with progress included in the annual report.
The council reports emissions using Carbon Dioxide equivalent (CO2e) which is a unit of
measurement used to indicate the global warming potential of a greenhouse gas, expressed
in terms of the global warming potential of one unit of Carbon Dioxide. It is used to evaluate
the releasing (or avoiding releasing) of different greenhouse gases against a common basis.
Table 1 shows the carbon budget periods set out in West Suffolk Council’s
Environment and Climate Emergency Declaration
Emissions budget
for the period

Budget period

Period

Annual emissions
at end of period

First

April 2020 to March 2023

4,675 tCO2e per year

18,700 tCO2e

Second

April 2023 to March 2026

2,484 tCO2e per year

8,292 tCO2e

Third

April 2026 to March 2030

840 tCO2e per year

2,520 tCO2e

Fourth

2030-31

Net zero emissions

There is a significant amount of work which contributes to improving the environment
carried out by the council directly and with partners which is not covered in this statement.
More information can be found on the council’s webpage - Protecting our environment.
While the council did play a vital role in tackling the pandemic, helping businesses,
our communities and delivering services it continued a range of initiatives as part of its
climate change and environmental work. Updates were included for members from the
Leader of the Council throughout this time. While the pandemic had an impact on some
targets and work it also saw some services being delivered in more environmentally
friendly ways and communities championing greener ways of living.
Despite the pandemic the council has continued to make progress on many of its targets
and is building on new and existing initiatives. The projects undertaken and progress made
is outlined in Section 2 and within the main report.
The report is structured by theme with highlights set out below. For ease, each icon contains
a hyperlink to the relevant section of the report.

Page 57

3

Overview of environmental
performance during 2020-21

50.2%

86%

Reduction in total emissions
compared to 2010 baseline
Total emissions down 28.6%
compared to last year

11%

Increase in renewable energy
generated compared to 2012
Renewable energy
generated up by 11%
compared to last year

Reduction in total council fuel
use compared to last year

6

Total owned vehicle
emissions have decreased
by 17% compared to
2010-11 baseline

Green Flag status parks
held during 2020-21 regaining Green Flag
status for West Stow park

58%

75.5%

Reduction in total water
consumption compared
to baseline

Recycling rate, which is up
39% compared to last year

52% Reduction in total
water consumption
compared to last year

52% Reduction in total
office waste compared
to last year

41

Electric vehicles can be
charged at the same time
using public chargers
installed by WSC

1,500
plants and trees planted
during 2020-21

78%

Less business travel
compared to 2010 baseline
Business
Page
58 travel down

67% compared to last year

4

Greenhouse gas emissions arising
from West Suffolk Council activities
Target: reduce greenhouse gas emissions from West Suffolk Council activity to net zero
by 2030. Measured in Carbon Dioxide equivalent (CO2e).
West Suffolk Council and Abbeycroft Leisure
Baseline emissions 2010

8,215 tonnes CO2e

Annual emissions in 2020-21

4,093 tonnes CO2e

Carbon Dioxide equivalent (CO2e) is a unit of measurement used to indicate the global
warming potential of a greenhouse gas, expressed in terms of the global warming potential
of one unit of Carbon Dioxide. It is used to evaluate the releasing (or avoiding releasing) of
different greenhouse gases against a common basis.
We include emissions that arise from buildings and transportation. This includes the leisure
centres operated by Abbeycroft Leisure (ACL) and other operational buildings such as The
Apex, it also includes buildings that we purchase energy for but excludes buildings that we
own and are leased to local businesses who pay their own energy bills. The figures do not
include the staff commuting journeys to our sites.
The combined emissions from West Suffolk Council and ACL activity has continued to
decrease, during 2020-21 emissions decreased by 28.6% to the previous year - see Figure 1
below. Of this total there has been a 18.8% decrease in emissions from council activity and a
42.2% decrease in emissions from Abbeycroft Leisure - see Figure 2 on the next page. While
COVID-19 has had an impact these buildings in the main still had to be run and were used by
various staff and agencies through this time.
Figure 1 Combined greenhouse gas emissions by year

Page 59

5

Figure 2 Greenhouse gas emissions by organisation over time

Impact of COVID-19 on environmental performance

The pandemic has affected the council as it has other organisations globally. The restrictions
put in place mean that our offices had minimal occupancy, however, many services have still
required vehicles or staff working in our communities. These changes to operation and
occupancy are reflected in the marked decrease in environmental impacts set out in the
2020-21 environmental statement.
The environmental statement shows reductions in waste, energy consumption and business
travel. All of which are dependent on people using our buildings. Fuel consumed for refuse
collection and other services requiring vehicle movements have shown a slight reduction.
The council recognises the potential for a shift in emissions caused by working at home
however, calculating the exact impact of this is complex and depends on variables such as
building age, type, and number of occupants, none of which the council holds data for.
Should home working be significant during 2021-22 the council will develop a
representation of the potential impact since lockdown began.
Moving forward, the council will continue to learn from the effects of the pandemic and look
for further opportunities. We hope to continue to improve our performance and lock in the
benefits of some of the lessons learned.

Notes
The gradual decarbonisation of grid electricity is a key component of the UK emissions
reduction targets. Emissions arising from grid supplied electricity dropped by 9% in 2020
compared to 2019 data. Appendix 1 contains information on emissions reporting scopes.

Page 60

6

2. Building energy use
Target: to meet the net zero emissions target we will reduce energy consumption
from buildings operated in 2019-20 by 50% by 2025.
West Suffolk Council and Abbeycroft Leisure
Emissions in 2010

5,436 tonnes CO2e

Emissions in 2020-21

2,298 tonnes CO2e

Emissions arising from all gas, electricity, and biomass consumption are included in this
section. Biomass is a fuel stock comprised of wood chips. Combined emissions from WSC
and ACL buildings have continued to decrease following previous years. In comparison to
2019-20, total emissions from buildings are down by 35.6% and down by 58% compared
to 2010. Figure 3 shows the decrease in emissions over time.
The decrease in emissions is a result of a reduction in total gas emissions of 35.2%,
a reduction in electricity emissions of 35.7% and an end to oil consumption at West Stow
park. There was a small increase in emissions from biomass consumption of 0.36 tCO2e.
There was an increase in WSC gas consumption of 3% due to increased ventilation
requirements for occupancy during the COVID-19 pandemic.
Since October 2020 the council has purchased 100% renewable energy generated from
solar, wind and hydro sources - more information on the fuel mix can be found at Ecotricity - Our fuel mix. Under dual emissions reporting the council’s switch to
purchasing renewable energy saved 689.5 tCO2e however, we report emissions from
electricity consumption using location-based grid average emission factors as per
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting legislation.
Figure 3 Emissions from building utility consumption over time

Some notable property projects this year which have contributed to the above
changes include:
• energy efficiency LED lighting installed through the first-floor offices at West Suffolk House
• electric vehicle rapid charger James Carter Road Mildenhall.

Page 61

7

3. Renewable energy
Target: Increase the amount of renewable energy generated each year.

Renewable energy generated (kWh - kilowatt an hour)
Baseline generation in 2012-13

300,220kWh

Generation in 2020-21

559,058kWh

The council has installed solar photovoltaic (PV) systems to reduce its electricity costs and
carbon emissions. The energy generated by all systems installed on council offices, depots
and leisure centres is totalled in this section.
The total capacity of the PV systems installed on West Suffolk Council property and leisure
centres stands at 807kWp and they generated 559,058kWh of electricity during 2020-21
which is enough to power 157 average sized homes for the year – more than previous years.
Figure 4 below shows the amount of electricity generated by year which is generally
increasing over time.
Figure 4 Annual renewable electricity generation on council properties

Page 62

8

Toggam solar farm
2020-21 was another good year for electricity generation at the solar farm. Toggam
Solar Farm generated 11,788MWh (megawatt an hour) of electricity compared to a
target of 11,507MWh. This was lower than the previous year due to broken transformer
impacting 20% of the site during August and September. The electricity that is sold into
the National Grid is enough to power around 3,300 homes and offset the carbon dioxide
emissions from 1,500 cars. The value of the electricity generated from the site was worth
£1.3 million for the year. Figure 5 below shows the target electricity generation along
with actual generation for Toggam Solar Farm.
Figure 5 Chart showing electricity generation during 2020-21

Renewable heat
The council continues to identify ways to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by switching
to renewable heat technologies. It has previously installed ground source heat pumps in
West Suffolk House and The Apex in Bury St Edmunds and a biomass wood chip boiler at
The National Horse Racing Museum fuelled by wood chip produced locally and supplied by
the Jockey Club Estates.
In 2020-21 the council installed a ground source heat pump to replace the oil boiler at West
Stow and supported the Bardwell Playing Fields Association with the installation of an air
source heat pump at their new pavilion.

Page 63

9

4. Fuel use
Target: Reduce the emissions from total fuel consumption from the baseline year in 2010.
Fuel use
Consumption in 2019-20

773,431 litres

Consumption in 2020-21

686,136 litres

This section includes the total litres of fuel used in, but not limited to, refuse collection
vehicles, road sweepers, grounds maintenance vehicles, petrol or diesel bought using fuel
cards, and industrial mobile machinery. In 2019-20 the council have updated the process
for reporting on fuel use and will be reporting on total fuel consumption rather than fleet
consumption to ensure an accurate emissions figure.
Total owned vehicle emissions have decreased by 17% compared to 2010-21 baseline.
Total fuel use has decreased by 11% compared to 2019-20.
The council’s electric van has travelled 3,339km since it was purchased last year producing
zero point of use emissions. Feedback from those driving the electric van has been positive
and the council is looking to switch other fleet vehicles to zero emission alternatives as part
of its fleet renewal programme. It is anticipated that the next vehicles to be swapped to
electric alternatives will be supervisor vans and our fleet management team will be trialling
further electric vehicles as COVID-19 restrictions end. Where possible the operations team
are investing in electric and rechargeable tools rather than fossil fuel driven ones.
Figure 6 Chart showing owned vehicle emissions by year

Page 64
10

5. Business travel
Target: Reduce the amount of grey fleet kilometres from the baseline year in 2010.
Grey fleet includes vehicles that are owned and used by council employees.
Distance travelled
Baseline 2010

1,083,316 kilometres

Distance travelled in 2020-21

236,400 kilometres

Business travel includes staff and councillor journeys, pool car use and other owned or leased
vehicles. Business passenger kilometres have decreased by 67% compared to 2019-20 as
shown in Figure 7 below.
Of the total distance travelled, private car use (grey fleet) decreased by 65% and pool car
use fell by 92% from 53,858km to 4,542km.
Our pool car service is now provided by a third party however, we will account for the
emissions resulting from pool car usage as they are a direct result of staff activity.
The introduction of COVID-19 lockdown measures has changed the way we deliver our
services and switching to online meetings have contributed significantly to reduced
business travel.
Figure 7 Chart showing business passenger kilometres travelled

Page 65

11

6. Water consumption
Target: Reduce the amount of water used in council activities from the baseline year in 2010.
Water consumption (m3)
West Suffolk Council baseline consumption in 2010

23,827

West Suffolk Council consumption in 2020-21

17,778

Abbeycroft Leisure baseline consumption in 2010

51,076

Abbeycroft Leisure Consumption in 2020-21

13,850

Total baseline consumption in 2010

74,903

Total consumption in 2020-21

31,628

This section includes the total of water consumption from all WSC owned and operated
properties as well as those run by ACL.
Total water consumption has decreased by 58% compared to the 2010 baseline and 52%
compared to 2019-20. This is comprised of a decrease in water consumption by both West
Suffolk Council and ACL by 28% and 66% respectively. Figure 8 shows the change in total
water consumption over time and by organisation.
The reduction on ACL water consumption is linked to changes in occupancy as a response
to the COVID-19 pandemic.
Figure 8 Chart showing total water consumption by year

Page 66

12

7. Corporate waste
Target: To increase the office waste recycling rate and decrease the total waste arising from
council operations from the baseline year 2018.
Figure 9 below shows the weight of key waste streams generated from WSC activity and
their disposal method. Compared to 2019-20 there has been a 65% decrease in total
waste generated.
Figure 9 Chart showing waste by end use and total waste arisings

Office waste
During 2020-21 the total amount of waste generated was 42.56 tonnes, of this residual
waste accounted for 10.44 tonnes and recycling was 32.12 tonnes.
The proportion of waste that is recycled has increased for the third consecutive year to
75.47%. This represents an increase in the recycling rate of 39% compared to 2019-20.
When staff are working in our offices for more of the time, we will schedule another waste
audit of one of our buildings to continue to improve pro-recycling communications.
Figure 10 below shows the proportion of waste recycled compared to that sent to Energy
from Waste (EfW) centre each year. EfW aims to move waste up the waste hierarchy
unlocking useful electricity from waste which would otherwise have gone to landfill.
More information on the Suffolk EfW facility can be found at - Suffolk EfW.
Figure 10 Chart showing annual office waste and recycling weights

Page 67

13

8. Biodiversity and parks
Target: to maintain or increase the number of green flag accredited sites compared to the
baseline year 2016.

Green flag status
The following sites successfully gained Green Flag accreditation during 2020-21:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Abbey Gardens, Bury St Edmunds (retained)
Nowton Park, Bury St Edmunds (retained)
East Town Park, Haverhill (retained)
Aspal Close, Mildenhall (retained)
Brandon Country Park, Brandon (retained)
West Stow Country Park (new)

During 2020-21 we regained the Green Flag status for West Stow Country Park. The park
supports a total of 806 priority UK Biodiversity Action Plan species including birds,
amphibians and reptiles, plants, fungi, bats, and moths. In 2021-22 we hope to retain the
green flag status for all six sites. More information on Green Flag Awards can be found at
Green Flag Award.

Use of parks and other public open
spaces during the COVID-19 pandemic
This past year has seen a rise in footfall of visitors to our parks and open spaces, with the
greatest increase at Nowton Park at 31% compared to 2019-20. Figure 11 shows visitor
footfall occurring from April to March between 2019-20 and 2020-21.
Figure 11 Chart showing number of park visitors compared to 2019-20

With the increase in footfall has come the challenge of protecting key areas of significance
for nature conservation. To help better inform visitors of key areas of interest we have
been reviewing site signage, promoting anti littering and dog fouling campaigns on our
site Facebook pages.

Page 68

14

Ongoing biodiversity and natural
environment programmes
GIS mapping (Geographic Information System)
We are digitally mapping the various green space features within West Suffolk.
Areas higher in biodiversity are being identified on the council’s GIS system and
suitable maintenance regimes implemented to support these areas.
Example of mapping environments

Encouraging and protecting habitats
The Brandon Roadside Nature Reserve on the London Road Industrial Estate has now been
designated a Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) due to the success of the Field
Wormwood Plant (Artemesia campestris) and the more important and rarer Wormwood
Moonshiner Beetle.
The Saxongate Nature Reserve in Bury St Edmunds is being managed to support a variety of
wildlife including Frogs and toads and the ponds at East Town Park are managed to support a
variety of wildlife.
Landscape planting
The newly established landscape planting at the Mildenhall Hub includes 2.5 hectares of
meadow and habitat seed mixes (wildflower, floral lawn, wetland and hedgerow), 300 trees
and 1,709 native shrubs.
Abbey Gardens
In July 2020 the extension of the Abbey Gardens into the former plant growing nursery
known as Eastgate nursery was open to the public. The extension includes a new path which
provides easier pedestrian access between Ram Meadow and No Mans Meadows. A new
wildflower labyrinth was sown on the site of the former tennis court area in spring 2020.

Page 69

15

Reduction of fossil fuel use in the Parks Service
Following the successful replacement of certain items of motorised equipment at Nowton Park
last year the equipment used by the team of staff in the Abbey Gardens is also now being
replaced. As well as being more environmentally friendly the new equipment is quieter.

9. Environmental compliance
Target: No incidents leading to formal action being taken by regulatory bodies.
Target date: Ongoing
The council currently maintains environmental permits for two operational sites located in
Bury St Edmunds and Haverhill, which are used to support the strategic management of
West Suffolk’s municipal waste. There have been no compliance issues, breaches of the
permit conditions or action taken by a regulatory body. In 2020, the council also successfully
surrendered the Environmental Permit for the former depot site in Bury St Edmunds.
Moving forward, we are working with strategic partners to maintain compliance while
ensuring that waste collected is managed in a safe, efficient and effective way.

Page 70

16

Appendix 1
Emissions scopes
Figure 12 shows the total greenhouse gas emissions by reporting scope. The greatest proportion of emissions originate from Scope 1, referred to as direct emissions; this includes emissions from the consumption of gas and owned transport. Table 3 details where each source of
emissions sits within the reporting framework.
Figure 12 Total emissions by reporting scope

Table 3 Sources of emissions by scope
Emissions scopes
Scope 1 – direct emissions
Emissions from the activities of an organisation
or under their control.

Scope 2 – indirect emissions
Emissions from electricity or other energy
purchased and used by the organisation.
These emissions are created during the production
of the energy by another before they are used
by the organisation.
Scope 3 – all other indirect emissions
All other indirect emissions from activities of the
organisation, occurring from sources that they
do not own or control. The council currently only
reports key Scope 3 emissions sources.

Page 71

WSC biomass
WSC gas consumption
WSC heating oil
WSC owned transport
ACL biomass
ACL gas consumption
WSC purchased electricity
ACL purchased electricity

WSC public transport
WSC water consumption
ACL water consumption
Pool cars
Staff and councillor mileage

17

Page 72

West Suffolk Council

Report Number CAB/WS/21/033
Decisions Plan

Key decisions and other executive decisions to be considered
Date: 1 July 2021 to 31 May 2022
Publication date: 18 June 2021

Page 73

The following plan shows both the key decisions and other decisions/matters taken in private, that the Cabinet, portfolio holders,
joint committees or officers under delegated authority, are intending to take up to 31 May 2022. This table is updated on a monthly
rolling basis and provides at least 28 clear days’ notice of the consideration of any key decisions and of the taking of any items in
private.
Executive decisions are taken at public meetings of the Cabinet and by other bodies/individuals provided with executive decisionmaking powers. Some decisions and items may be taken in private during the parts of the meeting at which the public may be
excluded, when it is likely that confidential or exempt information may be disclosed. This is indicated on the relevant meeting
agenda and in the ‘Reason for taking the item in private’ column relevant to each item detailed on the plan.

In all instances, contact should be made with the named officer in the first instance, either on the telephone number listed against
their name, or via email using the format firstname.surname@westsuffolk.gov.uk or via West Suffolk Council, West Suffolk House,
Western Way, Bury St Edmunds, Suffolk, IP33 3YU.

Page 1 of 19

Agenda Item 9

Members of the public may wish to:
make enquiries in respect of any of the intended decisions listed below; or
receive copies of any of the documents in the public domain listed below; or
receive copies of any other documents in the public domain relevant to those matters listed below which may be submitted to
the decision taker; or
make representations in relation to why meetings to consider the listed items intended for consideration in private should be
open to the public.

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
20/07/21

Page 74
20/07/21

Environment Action
Plan
The Cabinet will
receive an update on
the implementation of
actions arising from
the West Suffolk
Environment and
Climate Change
Taskforce, together
with any other issues
relating to this topic.

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Jill Korwin
Strategic
Director
01284 757252

Report to
Cabinet.

West Suffolk Annual
Report 2020 to 2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider and
approve the West
Suffolk Annual Report
2020 to 2021, which
will previously have
been considered by the

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Ian Gallin
Chief Executive
01284 757001

Report to
Cabinet.

Page 2 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee.
21/09/21

Page 75

(deferred
from
25/05/21)

21/09/21
(deferred
from
27/04/21)

West Suffolk Rural
Taskforce –Action
Plan Update
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
final update on
implementation of
actions arising from
the West Suffolk Rural
Taskforce.

Not applicable

(D)

Cabinet

John Griffiths
Leader of the
Council
01284 757001

Jill Korwin
Strategic
Director
01284 757252

Report to
Cabinet.

Newmarket
Cumulative Impact
Assessment Review
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
approving and
renewing the
Newmarket Cumulative

Not applicable

(KD) (e)(ii)

Cabinet

Andy
Drummond
Regulatory
07710 027343

Jen Eves
Director
(HR, Governance
and Regulatory)
01284 757015

Report to
Cabinet, with
accompanying
consultation
analysis and
background
evidence/data

Fiona Quinn
Service Manager
Page 3 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 76

Impact Assessment
(CIA), which has been
subject to consultation.
This policy was
introduced to manage
the growth of licensed
premises in an area
where the number,
type and density of
premises selling
alcohol had been
identified as leading to
nuisance and disorder.
The existing policy
requires reviewing to
ensure it complies with
the legislative changes
introduced on 6 April
2018. The Licensing
and Regulatory
Committee will have
been involved with the

(Environmental
Health)
01284 757042

Page 4 of 19

Documents to
be submitted

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)
consultation process.
21/09/21

Page 77
21/09/21

Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

(KD)

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices.

Annual Financial
Resilience Report
2020 to 2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding

Not applicable

(R) – Council
28/09/21

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

Page 5 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 78

seeking approval for
the Annual Financial
Resilience Report for
2020 to 2021.

21/09/21

Financial Resilience
Report - June 2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the financial resilience
activities between 1
April 2021 and 30 June
2021.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
28/09/21

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

09/11/21

Council Tax Base for
Tax Setting
Purposes 2022 to
2023

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

Page 6 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

07929 305787

01638 719245

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 79
09/11/21

The Cabinet will be
asked to recommend
to Council the basis of
the formal calculation
for the Council Tax
Base for West Suffolk
Council for the
financial year 2022 to
2023.
Local Council Tax
Reduction Scheme
2022 to 2023
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
proposals for potential
revisions to the Local
Council Tax Reduction
Scheme prior to
seeking its approval by
Council.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Cabinet/
Council

Page 7 of 19

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Council Tax
Technical Changes
2022 to 2023
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
proposals for potential
Council Tax technical
changes prior to
seeking its approval by
Council.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

07/12/21

Delivering a
Sustainable Budget
2022 to 2023 and
Medium Term
Financial Strategy
2022 to 2026
The Cabinet will be

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

Page 80

09/11/21

Page 8 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 81
07/12/21

asked to consider
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee for
recommending to
Council on proposals
for achieving a
sustainable budget in
2022 to 2023 and in
the medium term.
Financial Resilience
Report – September
2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for

Not applicable

(R) – Council
14/12/21

Page 9 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 82

the Financial Resilience
activities between 1
April 2021 and 30
September 2021.

07/12/21

Revenues Collection
Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

Exempt
appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

(KD)

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with exempt
appendices.

08/02/22

Applications for
Community Chest
2022 to 2023
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the West Suffolk Grant
Working Party in

Not applicable

(KD);
however,
some
funding
allocations
may be
subject to
the budget

Cabinet

Robert Everitt
Families and
Communities
01284 769000

Davina Howes
Director
(Families and
Communities)
01284 757070

Recommendations of the West
Suffolk Grant
Working Party to
Cabinet.

(deferred
from
11/01/22)

Page 10 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 83
08/02/22

respect of the levels of
funding (if any) to be
awarded to applicants
to the Community
Chest funding scheme
for 2022 to 2023 and
in some cases, 2023 to
2024.
Delivering a
Sustainable Budget
2022 to 2023 and
Medium Term
Financial Strategy
2022 to 2026
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee for

setting
process.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
22/02/22
Unless
separate
proposals
are
recommended by
Cabinet,
consideration by

Page 11 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Report to Cabinet
with recommendations to Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 84

08/02/22

recommending to
Council on proposals
for achieving a
sustainable budget in
2022 to 2023 and in
the medium term.
Budget and Council
Tax Setting 2022 to
2023 and Medium
Term Financial
Strategy 2022 to
2026
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
proposals for the 2021
to 2022 budget and
Medium Term Financial
Strategy 2022 to 2026
for West Suffolk
Council, prior to its

Council will
take place as
part of the
separate
budget
setting paper
on 22/02/22
Not applicable

(R) – Council
22/02/22
Unless
separate
proposals
are
recommended by
Cabinet,
consideration by
Council will
take place as

Page 12 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Cabinet/
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 85

08/02/22

approval by Council.
This report includes
the Minimum Revenues
Provision (MRP) Policy
and Prudential
Indicators.
Financial Resilience
- Strategy Statement
2022 to 2023 and
Treasury
Management Code of
Practice
The Cabinet will be
asked to recommend
to Council, approval of
the Strategy
Statement 2022 to
2023 and Treasury
Management Code of
Practice for West

part of the
separate
budget
setting paper
on 22/02/22

Not applicable

(R) – Council
22/02/22

Page 13 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 86

Suffolk Council, which
must be undertaken
before the start of
each financial year.

08/02/22

Financial Resilience
Report – December
2021
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider the
recommendations of
the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee regarding
seeking approval for
the Financial Resilience
activities between 1
April 2021 and 31
December 2021.

Not applicable

(R) – Council
22/02/22

Cabinet /
Council

Sarah
Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Rachael Mann
Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

Recommendations of the
Performance and
Audit Scrutiny
Committee to
Cabinet and
Council.

15/03/22

Revenues Collection

Exempt

(KD)

Cabinet

Sarah

Rachael Mann

Report to Cabinet

Page 14 of 19

Expected
decision
date

Subject and purpose
of decision

Reason for
taking item
in private
(see Note 1
for relevant
exempt
paragraphs)

Decision
(D), Key
Decision
(KD) or
Rec (R) to
Council on
date

Decision
taker
(see
Note 3
for
membership)

Portfolio
holder
contact
details

Lead officer
contact details

Documents to
be submitted

Broughton
Resources and
Performance
07929 305787

Director
(Resources and
Performance)
01638 719245

with exempt
appendices.

(see Note 2
for Key
Decision
definitions)

Page 87

Performance and
Write Offs
The Cabinet will be
asked to consider
writing-off outstanding
debts, as detailed in
the exempt
appendices.

appendices:
paragraphs 1
and 2

Page 15 of 19

Note 1: Definition of exempt information and relevant paragraphs of the Local Government Act 1972
In accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
The public may be excluded from all or part of the meeting during the consideration of items of business on the grounds that it
involves the likely disclosure of exempt information defined in Schedule 12(A) of the Act, as follows:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Page 88

5.
6.
7.

Information relating to any individual.
Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual.
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information).
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated consultations or negotiations, in connection with
any labour relations matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or office holders under,
the authority.
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.
Information which reveals that the authority proposes –
a.
to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which requirements are imposed on a person; or
b.
to make an order or direction under any enactment.
Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the prevention, investigation or prosecution of
crime.

In accordance with Section 100A(3) (a) and (b) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended)
Confidential information is also not for public access, but the difference between this and exempt information is that a Government
department, legal opinion or the court has prohibited its disclosure in the public domain. Should confidential information require
consideration in private, this will be detailed in this Decisions Plan.

Page 16 of 19

Note 2:

Key decision definition

A key decision is an executive decision that either:
a. Results in new expenditure, or a reduced income or savings of more than £100k in any one year that has not otherwise
been included in the Council’s revenue or capital budgets.
b. Comprises or includes the making, approval or publication of a draft or final scheme, which is not a routine business
decision, that may require, either directly or in the event of objections, the approval of a Minister of the Crown.
c. Results in the formation of a new company, limited liability partnership or joint venture.
d. Has a potentially detrimental impact on communities outside of West Suffolk District.

Page 89

e. Is a decision that is significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in a definable local community in the
District, or on one or more wards, in that it will:
i. Have a long-term, lasting impact on that community; or
ii. Restrict the ability of individual businesses or residents in that area to undertake particular activities; or
iii. Removes the provision of a service or facility for that community; or
iv. Increases the charges payable by members of the community to provide a service or facility by more than 5%; or
v. Have the potential to create significant local controversy or reputational damage to the Council
f. A matter that the decision maker considers to be a key decision.
g. Any matters that fall under the scope of e. above must be subject to consultation with the local Member(s) in Wards that
are likely to be impacted by the decision prior to the decision being made.

Page 17 of 19

Note 3: Membership of bodies making key decisions
a.

Membership of West Suffolk Council’s Cabinet and their portfolios
Cabinet Member
John Griffiths
Sara Mildmay-White
Sarah Broughton
Carol Bull
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt
Susan Glossop
Jo Rayner

Page 90

David Roach
Peter Stevens

Portfolio
Leader of the Council
Deputy Leader of the Council and Housing
Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Performance
Portfolio Holder for Governance
Portfolio Holder for Regulatory
Portfolio Holder for Families and Communities
Portfolio Holder for Growth
Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Culture and
Community Hubs
Portfolio Holder for Local Plan Development
and Delivery
Portfolio Holder for Operations

Page 18 of 19

b.

Membership of the Anglia Revenues Partnership Joint Committee (made up of Breckland Council, East
Cambridgeshire District Council, East Suffolk Council, Fenland District Council and West Suffolk Council)
Member Council
Breckland
East Cambridgeshire
East Suffolk
Fenland
West Suffolk

Full representative
Philip Cowen
David Ambrose-Smith
Steve Gallant
Jan French
Sarah Broughton

Page 91
Jennifer Eves
Director (Human Resources, Governance and Regulatory)
Date: 18 June 2021

Page 19 of 19

Substitute representative
Sam Chapman-Allen and Paul Claussen
David Brown and Joshua Schumann
To be confirmed
David Connor and Kim French
Sara Mildmay-White

This page is intentionally left blank

